

The University of Rome "Foro Italico" The German Sport University, Cologne The University of Southern Denmark, Odense The Norwegian School of Sport Sciences, Oslo The University of Vienna

European Master in Health and Physical Activity (Laurea Magistrale Internazionale in Attività Fisica e Salute) LM 67- I

Is there an association between total physical activity level and VO_{2max} among fitness club members?

A prospective one-year follow-up study

Elene Mauseth Tangen

Lene A. H. Haakstad

Candidate

Supervisor

Christina Gjestvang

Co - Supervisor

2

.

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND: Since Cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) is an important predictor for allcause mortality, it is vital to know if meeting the global physical activity (PA) recommendations of 150 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous PA (MVPA) weekly is associated with higher levels of the gold standard measure of CRF: Maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max}). The majority of former research has investigated this association in the general adult population, and has used self-reporting of PA level. Self-reported PA increases the chance of over-reporting PA level, which device-measured PA does not. To this date, no studies have investigated the association between device-measured PA and VO_{2max} in a fitness club setting. Thus, the aims of this present study were to investigate if there was an association between device-measured PA and VO_{2max}, and if a non-exercise model could predict VO_{2max} among untrained adults at membership start-up and after one year of fitness club membership. **METHOD:** This master thesis was part of the research project: "Fitness clubs – a venue for public health?" a longitudinal prospective study. At membership start-up, 125 untrained new fitness club members were recruited for the study. PA level was measured with ActiGraph GT1M for seven constructive days, and VO_{2max} was measured with a cardiopulmonary exercise test using the stepwise modified Balke protocol at membership start-up (n = 125) and at one-year follow-up (n = 61). A Pearson correlation was assessed for minutes in MVPA and VO_{2max}, as well as total counts per minute (cpm) and VO_{2max}. To assess for potential covariates, and to develop a non-exercise model, a multivariable regression analysis including six factors: minutes in MVPA, total cpm, body mass index (BMI), fat mass%, age and gender with VO_{2max} (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹), as a dependent factor, was calculated at both time points. **RESULTS:** At membership start up, time spent in MVPA and total cpm was significantly associated with VO_{2max} in both genders (bivariate correlation coefficient r=.259, p=.002 and r=.275, p=.001, respectively), but not at follow-up (r=.123, p=.173 and r=.198, p=.063). When adjusting for covariates (gender, fat mass%, age and BMI), no association was found between MVPA and cpm with VO_{2max} at membership start-up (p=.83 and p=.08) or at follow-up (p=.527 and p=.164), respectively. The non-exercise model explained 69% and 58.8% of variance in measured VO_{2max} (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) at membership start-up and at follow-up (p<.001). Age, gender and fat mass% were the strongest predictors explaining VO_{2max}. **CONCLUSION:** Device-measured PA was significantly associated with VO_{2max} at membership start-up, but not at 1-year follow-up. The non-exercise model may be a feasible tool for rough estimate of VO_{2max} among healthy and untrained fitness club members.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
CONTENTS	4
ABBREVIATIONS	7
1. BACKGROUND	8
2. THEORY	9
2.1 Physical Activity	9
2.1.1 Dimensions of physical activity	9
2.1.2 Global recommendations for Physical Activity	
2.2. Physical Fitness	
2.2.1 Cardiorespiratory fitness	11
2.2.2 Physical fitness in relation to physical activity and health	
2.3 Assessing physical activity level	14
2.3.1 ActiGraph	
2.4 Accessing cardiorespiratory fitness	
2.4.1 Maximal oxygen uptake	
2.4.2 Cardiopulmonary exercise test	
2.4.3 Reference values of maximal oxygen uptake	
2.5 Association between total activity level and maximal oxygen uptake	
2.5.1 Self-reported physical activity and maximal oxygen uptake	
2.5.2 Device-measured physical activity and maximal oxygen uptake	
2.5.3 Physical activity intensity effect on maximal oxygen uptake	
2.6 The Fitness club industry	
3. AIM OF THE STUDY	27
4. METHOD	29
4 1 Study design	29
4.1.1 Participants	
4.2 Data collection and measurements	30
4.2 DATA COLLECTION AND MEASOREMENTS	30
4.2.2 Measures of total physical activity level	
4.2.3 Measures of maximal oxygen uptake	
4.2.4 Anthropometry and body composition	
4.3 Statistical analysis	
5. RESULTS	34
5.1 Descriptive characteristics	
5.1.1 Total physical activity level	
5.1.2 Physical fitness	

5.1.3 Covariates	35
5.2 Association between total activity level and maximal oxygen uptake	
5.2.1 Total activity level (total cpm and minutes in MVPA)	
5.2.2 Covariates (BMI, fat mass%, age and gender)	
5.2.3 Predicted VO _{2max} from a non-exercise model	
6. DISCUSSION	40
6.1 RESULTS	40
6.1.1 Main findings	
6.1.2 Association between device-measured physical activity (MVPA and cpm) and maximal oxygen	1
0.1.5 Covariates	
6.1.4 Predicted maximal oxygen uptake from a non-exercise model	
6.2 Methodological considerations	47
6.2.1 Study design	47
6.2.2 Participants	
6.3 Measurements	49
6.3.1 ActiGraph	
6.3.2 Cardiopulmonary exercise test	51
6.4 PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH	53
6.5 Strength and limitations	53
7. CONCLUSION	55
REFERENCES	56
LIST OF TABLES	74
LIST OF FIGURES	75
APPENDIX 1: REVIEW BY REK	76
APPENDIX 2: APPLICATION FOR NSD	78
APPENDIX 3: APPROVAL FROM NSD	82
APPENDIX 4: EMAIL INVITATION FOR NEWLY REGISTERED FITNESS CLUB MEMBERS	83

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This master thesis is my final draft of my two-year master's program European Master in Health and Physical Activity. During these last years I have gained knowledge, reflections and perspectives of the scientific field of physical activity, and this master program has given me experiences I am truly grateful for.

First, I want to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Associate professor PhD Lene. A.H. Haakstad and my Co-supervisor PhD student Christina Gjestvang. You both have motivated me with your positive encouragement. I truly and sincerely appreciate your constructive feedback and proofreading on all my draft.

Secondly, I want to thank my brother, Aleks. who has always taken the time to proofread my assignments during the two years of my master's degree. My academic English has improved remarkably thanks to you.

Third, I would like to thank all participants who participated in the research project. Your participation has been important to attain greater knowledge on fitness club members.

Finally, I want to thank my dearest close friends and family. Due to the consequences of Covid-19, writing this thesis has been more challenging than I expected. Thank you for encouraging words in desperate times.

Elene Mauseth Tangen

Oslo, June 2020

ABBREVIATIONS

BMI	Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)		
CI	Confidence Interval		
СРЕТ	Cardiopulmonary Exercise Test		
СРМ	Counts Per Minute		
CRF	Cardiorespiratory Fitness		
SEE	Standard Error of Estimate		
FAT MASS%	Fat percentage		
IPAQ	The International Physical Activity Questionnaire		
MET	Metabolic Equivalent of Tasks		
mL/kg ⁻¹ /min ⁻¹	Milliliters of oxygen per kilogram of body weight		
MVPA	Moderate-To-Vigorous Physical Activity		
Ν	Total number of participants		
NCDs	Noncommunicable Diseases		
PA	Physical Activity		
RER	Respiratory Exchange Rate		
R ²	The multiple coefficient of determination		
SD	Standard Deviation		
VO _{2max}	Maximal Oxygen Uptake		
VO _{2peak}	Peak Maximal Oxygen Uptake		
WHO	Worlds Health Organization		

1. BACKGROUND

The pandemic growth of physical inactivity has been identified as the fourth leading risk factor for global mortality, and is associated with numerous non-communicable chronic diseases (NCDs) and premature death (WHO, 2018). Worldwide, 1.6 million deaths annually due to NCDs, can be attributed to insufficient physical activity (PA) (WHO, 2018). Inactivity also represents an economic burden for society, and is estimated to cost annually around 67.5 billion dollars globally in health care expenditures and illness-related absence (Ding et al., 2016). Though, despite the public health authority's communication to the population concerning the negative consequences of inactivity, still two thirds of the Norwegian adult population are insufficient physical active (Hansen et al., 2019; Helsedirektoratet, 2016).

Former research has established that lower levels of PA may be a contributing factor to mortality because of its influence on cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) (Celis-Morales et al., 2017). CRF, usually expressed as maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max}), may be a mediating factor between PA and physical health (Ross et al., 2016). Due to VO_{2max} being significantly trainable, a graded dose-response change in VO_{2max} across levels of PA is observed (Bassett & Howley, 2000; Church, Earnest, Skinner & Blair, 2007; Lang et al., 2018; Ross et al., 2016).

However, VO_{2max} is also influenced by individual factors such as age, gender, body composition and current training status, and is therefore not independently influenced by PA pattern (Joyner & Lundby, 2018; Lang et al., 2018; Mezzani, 2017; Skinner et al., 2001; Williams et al., 2017). Adults in Norway meeting the current PA recommendations of 150 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous PA (MVPA) weekly (WHO, 2010) are found to only have 5% to 13% greater VO_{2max} compared with those that do not (Dyrstad, Anderssen, Edvardsen & Hansen, 2016). A wide range of low and high responders to guideline based PA program are also observed in the population (Joyner & Lundby, 2018; Skinner et al., 2001).

Fitness clubs provides a platform of a variety of activities, and is one of the main arenas for the general Norwegian adult population to conduct in PA (Thidermann & Rekdal, 2017; Virke, 2018). However, research on fitness club members are scant (Middelkamp & Steenbergen, 2015). To our knowledge, has none former studies investigated the association between PA level and VO_{2max} in this specific population.

2. THEORY

2.1 Physical Activity

PA is defined as: "*any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires energy expenditure*" (Caspersen, Powell & Christenson, 1985). PA can be performed in various domains, such as active transportation, as occupational PA, as leisure-time PA or as domestic activities (Howley, 2001). Leisure-time PA are activities performed during the individuals free time based on personal needs or interest (Strath et al., 2013).

The various PA domains can be classified as structured or incidental, and can considerably vary in intensity and duration (Caspersen et al., 1985; Howley, 2001; Strath et al., 2013). Leisure-time PA performed as exercise is characterized as structured, planned and frequent activity with the intention to improve or maintain physical health (Howley, 2001). While incidental PA is usually the result of daily activities either at work, as transportation or at home, where the intensity and duration is substantially lower (Howley, 2001; Strath et al., 2013).

PA is a complex behavior influenced by various of determinants, such as age, gender, ethnicity, social support, economic status, occupational status, community setting, physical fitness and several psychological factors (Choi, Lee, Lee, Kang & Choi, 2017; Wen, Herring, & Evenson, 2016; Lærum et al., 2008). Psychological factors include cognitive and emotional factors, such as perceived barriers, self-efficacy, as well as knowledge and attitude regarding PA and health (Choi et al., 2017).

2.1.1 Dimensions of physical activity

PA consists of five dimensions (Strath et al., 2013; WHO, 2010): *intensity*, refer to the metabolic demands of an activity (Strath et al., 2013). PA can be performed in light, moderate or vigorous intensity, which is equivalent to 1.5-2.9, 3.0-5.9 and >6.0 "Metabolic Equivalent of Tasks" (MET)-values, respectively (Howely, 2001; WHO, 2010). MET (1 MET=3.5 ml $O_2/kg-1/min-1$) is a way of expressing energy expenditure from PA and is expressed in multiples of resting metabolic rate (Lee, Artero, Sui & Blair, 2010). *Frequency*, refers to how often PA is conducted within a specific time period (Howley, 2001; WHO, 2010). *Duration*,

refers to the time spent in PA during a specific time period (Strath et al., 2013). Together, these three dimensions explain the total *volume* of PA (WHO, 2010).

Other dimensions of PA are activity type and context, whereas activity *type* refers to the physiological characteristics of the activity (Strath et al., 2013; WHO, 2010) (e.g. anaerobic, aerobic or strength), and the type of behavior (e.g. running, walking and cycling) (Strath et al., 2013; WHO, 2010). *Context* refers to in which setting the activity is performed (e.g. sports, fitness clubs, occupational or leisure-time) (Strath et al., 2013; WHO, 2010).

2.1.2 Global recommendations for Physical Activity

The Norwegian PA guidelines are in line with the global health recommendations proposed by The Worlds Health Organization (WHO) (Helsedirektoratet, 2016; WHO, 2010). The following recommendations use the dimensions of frequency, intensity, type and volume of PA needed for health enhancement and prevention of NCDs, and are based on a "doseresponse" relationship between PA and health benefits (WHO, 2010). The current recommendations are therefore a minimum recommendation, and increased PA above these given recommendations provides additional health benefits (Helsedirektoratet, 2016; WHO, 2010).

The present PA recommendations for aerobic PA, proposed by the Norwegian health authorities for the adult population (18-64 years) are (Helsedirektoratet, 2016; WHO, 2010):

- ⇒ "Participate in a minimum of 150 minutes of moderate intensity aerobic PA, or a minimum of 75 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic PA, or an equivalent combination of moderate-to-vigorous PA(MVPA) within a week" (WHO, 2010).
- ⇒ "For additional health benefits, adults should increase their moderate-intensity aerobic PA to 300 minutes per week" (WHO, 2010).

The updated PA recommendations for adults has eliminated the requirement of aerobic PA to occur in bouts of at least 10 minutes (Piercy et al., 2018). The 2018 Advisory Committee concluded that bouts of any length may contribute to the health benefits associated with accumulated volume of PA.

2.2. Physical Fitness

Physical fitness is a set of physical attributes, and refers to the state of physical and physiological characteristics that define the risk levels for premature development of diseases or morbid conditions (Caspersen et al., 1985). Being physically fit is seen as the "ability to carry out daily tasks without fatigue and with subsequent energy to enjoy leisure-time activity" (Caspersen et al., 1985).

The health-related fitness of an individual is expressed in five components (Vanhees et al., 2005): *a muscular component (e.g.* power, isometric, endurance and explosive strength) (Vanhees et al., 2005). *A cardiorespiratory component* (e.g. maximal aerobic power, lung and heart function) (Vanhees et al., 2005). A *morphological component* (e.g. body composition, abdominal visceral fat and bone density) (Vanhees et al., 2005). *A motor component* (e.g. balance, co-ordination and agility) (Vanhees et al., 2005). *A metabolic component* (e.g. glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity) (Vanhees et al., 2005). Similar to activity level, an individual's physical fitness can differ from low to high, and each of the components of physical fitness can differ individually (Blair, Cheng & Holder, 2001).

2.2.1 Cardiorespiratory fitness

CRF, also referred to as *aerobic capacity*, is defined as: "the ability of cardiovascular and pulmonary systems to supply the oxygen demands of skeletal muscle during sustained PA" (Lee et al., 2010). CRF depends on a linked chain of processes such as (Ross et al., 2016); pulmonary ventilation and diffusion; the ability of muscle cells to receive and use nutrients and oxygen supplied by the blood; right and left ventricular function (both systole and diastole), and the ability of the vasculature to accommodate and efficiency transport blood from the heart to precisely match oxygen requirement (Ross et al., 2016).

Since CRF is directly related to the intergraded function of several physiological systems, it is considered to reflect total body health (Ross et al., 2016). There is also convincing evidence that moderate or high levels of CRF reduces the risk of numerous NCDs (Antunes-Correa, 2018; Lee et al., 2010; Myers et al., 2019; Ross et al., 2016), and prevents premature mortality in both gender regardless of other risk factors, such as increased age, smoking and obesity (Lee et al., 2010; Ross et al., 2016).

Mechanisms linking CRF to NCDs and mortality are caused by CRF's effect on improved insulin sensitivity, blood lipid profile, endothelial function and blood pressure (Lee et al., 2010; Ross et al., 2016), which may reduce the risk of diabetes type 2 and cardiovascular disease (Ross et al., 2016). Improved body composition, and reduced visceral adiposity (Ross et al., 2016), which may reduce the risk of metabolic syndrome (Myers et al., 2019; Ross et al., 2016). High levels of CRF may also reduce levels of inflammation and improves antioxidant systems (Lee et al., 2010; Mora, Cook, Buring, Ridker & Lee, 2007; Myers et al., 2019), which can reduce the risk of certain types of cancer, particularly colon and breast cancer (Ross et al., 2016).

2.2.2 Physical fitness in relation to physical activity and health

In epidemiological studies, both PA and physical fitness has been used independently and jointly as protective factors when assessing risk of disease as outcome (Swain, 2005). Therefore, the terms are often used interchangeably (Booth, Roberts & Laye, 2012; Myers et al., 2019). However, PA is a behavior, while physical fitness is an attribute (Myers et al., 2019). An essential distinction between PA and physical fitness is the intraindividual day-to-day variability of PA. Hence PA can vary on a daily basis, while physical fitness remains relatively static, or eventually change over time (Warren et al., 2010).

The majority of data regarding physical fitness and PA, has focused on CRF (Ross et al., 2016). A general statement is that increased PA improves CRF (Blair., 2001). Physical inactivity can also rapidly decrease CRF, which is particularly seen in bed rest studies (Booth et al., 2012). Yet, inactivity may not be the principal cause for low CRF (Williams, 2001). The amount of adaption in CRF from a standard PA dose is genetically and environmental determined and also influenced by current training status (Mann, Lamberts & Lambert, 2014). The majority of CRF health related benefits are seen when individuals move from the least fit category to the next least fit category (Lang et al., 2018). This suggest that the greatest benefits from CRF are gained when physically inactive individuals, become physically active (Lang et al., 2018).

Reduction of noncommunicable diseases and premature mortality

Low levels of PA and CRF are associated with a reduction of cardiometabolic risk factors (O'Donovan, Hilsdon, Ukomunne & Stamatakis, 2013). Although, former research states CRF to be the dominant protective factor when assessing risk of cardiovascular disease (Blair et al., 2001; O'Donovan et al., 2013). "The Cooper Center Longitudinal Study" (previously The Aerobic Center Longitudinal study) began in 1970 as an observational epidemiological study who investigated health outcomes associated with PA and CRF (Lee et al., 2010; Stofan, DiPietro, Davis, Kohl & Blair, 1998). Men and women with the highest CRF had 47% and 70% lower risk of cardiovascular disease mortality, and 43% and 53% lower risk for all-cause mortality, respectively.

A meta-analysis conducted by Williams (2001) investigated PA and physical fitness as separate risk factors for cardiovascular and coronal heart disease. Both factors interpreted a reduction in relative risk for disease, yet the reduction was significantly greater for physical fitness (Williams, 2001). The greatest decrease in relative risk occurred between the lowest and second lowest fitness category, and a dose-response relationship between increased physical fitness and reduction in relative risk was observed. Swain (2005) also concluded that high values of CRF reduced the risk of cardiovascular disease greater than that obtained merely by being physically active.

However, there is uncertainty if this greater observed risk reduction is because physical fitness can be measured with greater accuracy, compared with PA (Blair et al., 2001). There is also substantiable evidence supporting the inverse relationship between PA and risk of NCDs (Shiroma & Lee, 2010). Reduction of inactivity itself is estimated to remove 6-10 % of the major NCDs (Lee et al., 2012). One study also found moderate and high amounts of PA to reduce the risk of coronary heart disease by 20-25% and 30-35%, respectively (Shiroma & Lee, 2010).

Furthermore, prior research has established that a clustering of risk factors is associated with higher risk of NCDs and all-cause mortality, compared with the risk obtain merely from a single risk factor (Lee et al., 2010). Therefore, a combination of inactivity and low physical fitness may be an even greater risk factor for NCDs. This was also investigated by "The Cooper Center Longitudinal Study" (Lee et al., 2010; Stofan et al., 1998). Activity level and fitness level were divided into three groups with correspondingly calculated all-cause death

13

rates per 1000 person/year of observation (Blair et al., 1996; Blair, Cheng & Holder, 2001;Stofan et al., 1998). The highest death rates for both genders were in the unfit-inactive group, and the lowest death rates were in the high fit-highly active group (Blair et al., 2001), with a risk reduction of approximately 70% in mortality between the two groups.

2.3 Assessing physical activity level

Various methods are available for the assessment of PA, and it can be assessed both with use of self-reports and with device measurements (Sylvia, Bernstein, Hubbard, Keating, Anderson 2014).

The most common self-reported PA measurement method is: The International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) (Craig et al., 2003; Dyrstad, Hansen, Holme & Anderssen, 2014; Sylvia et al., 2014). Participants have to report time, duration and frequency of vigorous, moderate and light PA, and time spent sedentary the past 7 days (Dyrstad et al., 2014; Steene-Johannessen et al., 2016). There are two versions of the IPAQ, the short form, and the long form, and both can be administered by telephone interview or as selfadministered. These are often more feasible and time beneficial to conduct than devicemeasured PA, and can be efficient when assessing PA context and type (Steene-Johannessen et al., 2016). However, self-reported PA relies on personal perceptions, memory, and judgments of the participant (Steene-Johannseen et al., 2016). Former research has therefore seen a tendency of overestimating PA with use of self-reports, which is mainly caused by recall- and social desirability bias, and interpretation of questions (Steene-Johannessen et al., 2016). It has also been seen to fail in capturing the lower end of PA spectrum, such as spontaneous light activity (e.g. household, transportation), due to recall bias (Steene-Johannessen et al., 2016; Sylvia et al., 2014). Thus, IPAQ are generally more reliable at the group level (Sylvia et al., 2014).

To capture an objective estimate of the different dimensions of PA, device measurements methods are increasingly used in studies involving PA patterns (Silfee et al., 2018). This measurement method captures PA through quantification of the activity movement and has the ability to measure a variety of metrics such as intensity, duration and bouts of the activity, as well as number of steps (Silfee et al., 2018). Indirect calorimetry and doubly labeled water are referred to as the criterion measurement techniques within device-measured PA

(Arvidsson, Fridolfsson & Börjesson, 2019). However, due to their expensive, wearable monitors, such as accelerometers, pedometers, wrist watch and heart rate monitors are commonly used in the public health setting (Silfee et al., 2018; Sylvia et al., 2014).

2.3.1 ActiGraph

Accelerometers are wearable devices that measure accelerations of the body segment to which the monitor is attached (Migueles et al., 2017). The device allows researchers to capture information about the frequency, intensity, and duration of PA over multiple days (Migueles et al., 2017; Silfee et al., 2018). Among available brands, the ActiGraph accelerometers account for more than 50% of published studies (Migueles et al., 2017). ActiGraph GT1M measures vertical acceleration in units called counts, which is a result of aggregating postfiltered raw accelerometer data usually over a specific time interval, called epochs (Kocherginsky, Huisingh-Scheetz, Dale, Lauderdale & Waite, 2017). Counts per minute (cpm) is the main variable expressed from the accelerometer, and the data can be stored in epochs range from 1 second to 60 seconds.

ActiGraph has been proven to be a valid measurement method for assessment of PA types such as running and walking (Hansen et al., 2014; Trost, Mclver & Pate, 2005; Warren et al., 2010). One study found a high correlation between cpm from walking and running measured with ActiGraph GT1M, and energy expenditure measured with indirect calorimetry (Hansen et al., 2014). However, since ActiGraph GT1M only measures vertical acceleration, it has some limitation in capturing activities such as cycling and resistance training (McCurdy, 2015; Warren et al., 2010). It also has limitations in measuring walking an incline or carrying heavy loads, since acceleration patterns remain unchanged under these conditions, despite the increased energy cost required (Warren et al., 2010). Since it is also not a waterproof device, this obviates its use in water sports (McCurdy, 2015).

Accelerometer placement, cut-points and measurement duration

The instrument can be placed on several body parts such as wrist, thigh and hip, depending on the movement intended to measure (Arvidsson et al., 2019). Predominantly of research, has used a standardized placement of the accelerometer near the non-dominant hip (McCurdy, 2015; Migueles et al., 2017). Hip placement has been suggested as optimal to measure whole body movement, since it is a location close to the center of the body, and is seen to provide

more accurate measure of overall activity level compared with wrist and thigh placement (Arvidsson et al., 2019; Mathie, Coster, Lovell & Celler, 2004).

Intensity is usually expressed as cut-points, which in turn are count thresholds corresponding to the energy cost of the given intensity to the data set (Migueles et al., 2017). These are defined to distinguish between light, moderate and vigorous PA, as well as sedentary time. There is a broad range of different cut-points used to distinguish between PA intensities in former research (Migueles et al., 2017). Application of different cut-points can result in major differences in estimating prevalence of intensity-specific activity level, particularly cut-points to determine moderate PA (Pedišić & Bauman, 2015). However, choice of cut-points are usually determined by the studied population and placement of the accelerometer (Migueles et al., 2017). The value of <100 cpm for sedentary behavior is most common, and was used in the "National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey", as well as other surveillance (Kim, Lee, Peters, Gaesser & Welk, 2014). One study investigated average of published cut-points for adults in accelerometer studies (Metzger et al., 2008). These were 2020 cpm for MVPA and >5999 for vigorous PA (Metzger et al., 2008). Hansen et al (2019) also used these following cut-points for their Norwegian adult sample: sedentary behavior categorized as <100cpm, light intensity categorized as 100-1999 cpm (1.6-2.9 METs) and MVPA categorized as >2020 cpm (≥ 3 METs) (Hansen et al., 2019).

A minimum of 3 to 5 days of measuring is considered appropriate in order to obtain estimates of PA behavior (Aadland & Ylvisåker, 2015; Trost et al., 2005). However, seven days of measuring is preferred, preferably including both weekdays and weekend days, due to day-to-day variability of PA (Warren et al., 2010). Ten hours of measuring time have been recommended as a criterion for one valid measuring day (Migueles et al., 2017).

2.4 Accessing cardiorespiratory fitness

2.4.1 Maximal oxygen uptake

CRF is usually measured as VO_{2max} , which is defined as: "*the highest rate at which oxygen can be taken up and utilized by the body during severe exercise*" (Bassett and Howley, 2000; Williams et al., 2017). Thus, it represents the maximal integrated physiological capacity of the cardiovascular, respiratory and skeletal muscle systems, entitled the maximal aerobic capacity (Antunes-Correa, 2018). VO_{2max} is limited by several physiological factor, which

may be divided into central and peripheral factors (Antunes-Correa, 2018; Bassett & Howley, 2000). Central factors contain of the maximal cardiac output, oxygen carrying capacity of the blood and the pulmonary diffusing capacity (Bassett & Howley, 2000). While peripheral factors contain of characteristics of the skeletal muscles. However, altering of these physiological factors are to some extent limited (Bassett & Howley, 2000). In large groups of healthy human, total body hemoglobin mass and maximal cardiac output seem to be the predominate determinate of VO_{2max} (Joyner & Lundby, 2018). Improvements in VO_{2max} from PA is primarily a consequence of increased maximal cardiac output, such as stroke volume (Bassett & Howley, 2000).

 VO_{2max} is usually expressed as absolute VO_2 , unites of liters (L/min) or relative VO_2 to the individuals body weight (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) (Kaminsky, Arena & Myers, 2015). Absolute VO_{2max} reflect the absolute total amount of oxygen consumed, regardless of size, age or gender. However, since two individuals of different size may have the same absolute VO_{2max} value, VO_{2max} is usually expressed as relative VO_{2max} (Ranković et al., 2010).

Demographical influence on maximal oxygen uptake

Age, gender, body composition, PA habits and genetics account for the greatest influence on relative VO_{2max} (Mezzani, 2017; Whaley, Kamisky, Dwyer & Getchell, 1995). VO_{2max} normally peaks between the age of 20-30 years, and starts to decline with increasing age (Bassett & Howley, 2000; Betik & Hepple, 2008). There is also a clear gender difference in VO_{2max} (Bassett and Howley, 2000; Joyner & Lundby, 2018; Mezzani, 2017; Williams et al., 2017). Women have in general around 7 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ lower VO_{2max} than men (Lee et al., 2010). This is mainly caused by smaller stroke and blood volume, lower hemoglobin level and less muscle mass in comparison with men (Mezzani, 2017).

There are also well known inter-individual differences in adaption from a particular training dose on VO_{2max} (Bassett, & Howley 2000; Joyner & Lundby, 2018; Williams et al., 2017). Some studies has documented that as much as 10% of individuals achieve poor or no improvement in VO_{2max} after endurance training (Hautala et al., 2006). For the young and middle-aged population, genetic and former training status seems to be the main influence on VO_{2max} trainability (Joyner & Lundby, 2018). The genetic influence on VO_{2max} is estimated to be approximately 50%, while several genes have also been identified as possible predictors of VO_{2max} trainability (Williams, et al., 2017). These are often divided into low and high

responders to a particular training dose (Joyner & Lundby, 2018), whereas high responders show greater response to a particular training dose, compared with low responders.

2.4.2 Cardiopulmonary exercise test

VO_{2max} is usually assessed with a Cardiopulmonary exercise test (CPET), which is performed under laboratory conditions using an incremental exercise protocol and technological advanced gas analysis devices (Lee et al., 2010; Schoffelen, Hoed, Breda & Plasqui, 2019). With a graded exercise test, we can observe the dynamic relationship between exercise workload and physiological response within the metabolic, musculoskeletal, cardiovascular and pulmonary system (Beltz et al., 2016). The test requires a linear increase in exercise intensity over time until the individual is unable to maintain or tolerate the given workload (Beltz et al., 2016).

CPETs are commonly assessed on a treadmill or cycle protocol (Aadland et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2010). For most participants, walking and running are preferred due to familiarity with upright locomotion, and it involves greater muscle mass utilization and greater work against gravity, in comparison with cycling protocols (Albouaini et al., 2007; Beltz et al., 2016).

One example of a graded treadmill protocol that is frequently used in the public health setting is the stepwise modified Balke protocol, which is a walking test that require maximal exhaustion of the participant (Balke & Ware, 1959). The participant usually starts at an initial walking speed of 4.5 km/h with an increase in treadmill elevation every minute up until 20% (Balke & Ware 1959). Thus, this protocol is seen to provide more modest increase in workload, in comparison with other graded treadmill tests (Flecther et al., 2013). This is particularly useful for some population groups, for instance elderly (Fletcher et al., 2013).

The Balke protocol is also well suited in the clinical setting, since it does not require running, and the initial stages is of low intensity (Aadland et al., 2017). This protocol was for instance assessed in the Norwegian mapping of physical fitness among adults and elderly (2009-2010) (Anderssen et al., 2010). Furthermore, findings from one of the most influential cohort studies "The Cooper Center Longitudinal Study", rely on time to exhaustion measured with the Balke protocol (Aadland et al., 2017; Blair et al., 1996; Stofan et al., 1998).

End criteria's for assessing maximal oxygen uptake

In order to increase the reliability and validity of the CPET, a combination of standardized criteria's must be meet during the test (Beltz et al., 2016). One of them is the presence of oxygen utilization "plateau", which is recognized by that oxygen utilization starts to even out, while the increase in workload is constant (Beltz et al., 2016). Although, this criterion is not always assessable in a practical setting (Edvardsen, Hem & Anderssen, 2014). In some cases, as intensity increases, the individual reaches volitional fatigue before plateau occurs (Kenney, Wilmore and Costill, 2009, p. 122). The Balke protocol is also a protocol that does not achieve a "steady state". Therefore, a large variety of end criteria's can be assessed. For instance, the participants rating of perceived exertion (Borg scale 6-20), the respiratory exchange rate (RER), the percentage of the age-adjusted estimate of maximal heart rate, or a combination of the mentioned criteria's (Borg, 1970; Edvardsen et al., 2014;Kenney et al., 2009, p. 117).

RER is the ratio of carbon dioxide production and oxygen consumption, and can be used as an indirect measure of lactic acid accumulation, and is also a method to reflect the intensity of the CPET (Edvardsen et al., 2014; Kenney et al., 2009,p. 118; Mezzani, 2017). A higher RER reflects a higher contributing of carbohydrates energy production, and a lower RER reflects a higher contribution of fat (Kenney et al., 2009, p. 265).

2.4.3 Reference values of maximal oxygen uptake

Reference values for VO_{2max} are required to interpret the results of CPETs, and to determine if the participant is below or above given normative values specific for age and gender (Aspenes et al., 2011; Edvardsen et al., 2013). There are two studies in Norway that have developed normative reference values for VO_{2max} (Aspenes et al., 2011; Edvardsen, Hansen, Holme, Dyrstad & Anderssen, 2013). One study was conducted by The Norwegian University of Science and Technology in Trondheim, Norway (Aspenes et al., 2011).

However, since Edvardsen et al (2013) study was conducted by The Norwegian School of Sport and Sciences in Oslo, Norway, was these used as reference values in this present study (Edvardsen et al., 2013). The sample contained of 759 healthy participants drawn from the general population in Norway, within the age range of 20-85 years. VO_{2max} was accepted if

the RER score was ≥ 1.10 , and a Borg score of ≥ 17 . The mean RER was 1.22 in the 20- to 49year-old participants and decreased to 1.13 in the oldest age group (Edvardsen et al., 2013).

Table 1 presents reference values for VO_{2max} and corresponding maximal heart rate, perceived exertion (Borg scale) and RER value for men within following age groups: 20-29, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59, 60-69 and 70-85 (Edvardsen et al., 2013).

Age (yrs)	$\frac{VO_{2max}}{(ml/kg^{-1}/min^1)}$	RER (VCO ₂ /V ₀)	HR _{max} (beats/min)	Borg-scale (1-20)	
20-29 n=38	48.6 (±9.6)	1.23 (±.09)	193.4 (± 21.4)	17.8 (±1.5)	
30-39	46.2 (±8.5)	1.24 (±.10)	189.4 (± 8.8)	17.9 (±1.1)	
<i>n=73</i> 40-49	42.7 (±9.3)	1.22 (±.10)	182.3 (±12.1)	17.7 (±1.2)	
n=91 50-59	36.8 (±6.6)	1.19 (±.12)	170.2 (±15.3)	17.5 (±1.3)	
n=88 60-69	32.4 (±6.4)	1.16 (±.10)	163.0 (±14.2)	17.3 (±1.4)	
n=81	$20.1(\pm 4.8)$	$1 12 (\pm 02)$	151 7 (±12 1)	17.8 (±1.1)	
n=23	30.1 (±4.8)	1.12 (±.08)	$131.7(\pm 13.1)$	17.0 (±1.1)	

Table 1:Results are presented as mean (and standard deviation, SD) Reference values for VO_{2max} and corresponding maximal heart rate, Borg scale and RER for men within the age groups: 20-29, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59, 60-69 and 70-85 (Edvardsen et al., 2013).

HR_{max}= Maximal heart rate. VO_{2max}= Maximal oxygen uptake. RER = Respiratory exchange rate.

Table 2 presents reference values for VO_{2max} and corresponding maximal heart rate, perceived exertion and RER value for women within following age groups: 20-29, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59, 60-69 and 70-85 (Edvardsen et al., 2013).

Table 2: Results are presented as mean (and standard deviation, SD) Reference values for VO_{2max} and corresponding maximal heart rate, Borg-scale and RER-score for women within the age groups: 20-29,30-39,40-49,50-59,60-60 and 70-85 (Edvardsen et al., 2013).

Age (yrs)	VO_{2max} (ml/kg ⁻¹ /min ¹)	RER (VCO ₂ /V ₀)	HR _{max} (beats/min)	Borg-scale (1-20)
20-29 <i>n=37</i>	40.3 (±7.1)	1.22 (±.10)	189.5 (±7.1)	17.9 (±1.8)
30-39	37.6 (±7.5)	1.22 (±.10)	184.7 (± 8.2)	17.8 (±1.4)
40-49	33.0 (± 6.4)	1.20 (±.10)	179.6 (±10.1)	17.3 (±1.5)
50-59	30.4 (± 5.1)	1.18 (±.10)	172.8 (± 9.8)	17.4 (±1.3)
60-69	28.7 (± 6.6)	1.18 (±.12)	165.9 (±12.0)	17.6 (±1.0)
n=39 70-85 n=41	23.5 (±4.1)	1.13 (±.12)	156.8 (±14.3)	17.5 (±1.0)

 HR_{max} = Maximal heart rate. VO_{2max} = Maximal oxygen uptake. RER = Respiratory exchange rate.

2.5 Association between total activity level and maximal oxygen uptake

It is well documented that structured exercise training, can improve VO_{2max} over time (Joyner & Lundby, 2018). However, there are also adaptive responses to PA performed incidental, which may improve VO_{2max} , even though this was not the main motive for conducting in the activity (Joyner & Lundby, 2018; McGuire & Ross, 2011).

CRF is suggested to provide a reflection of more recent activity level at the group level (Lang et al., 2018). Although, there is a growing body of evidence confirming the heterogeneity of the association between PA and VO_{2max} (Ross et al., 2015). The "inter-individual" differences in response to PA may also interpret some discrepancy concerning this association (Joyner & Lundby, 2018). Hence, a substantive proportion of participants in previous research, has been classified as non-responders on VO_{2max} (Bouchard & Rankien, 2001; Hautala et al., 2006).

2.5.1 Self-reported physical activity and maximal oxygen uptake

Since self-reported PA is a feasible and cost-efficient measurement method, the majority of previous research within this field has relied on self-reported PA (Aadahl et al., 2007; Berthouze et al., 1995; Matthews, Heil, Freedson & Pastides, 1999; Nes et al., 2011; Papathanasiou et al., 2010; Schembre & Riebe, 2011; Siconolfi et al., 1985). Although, self-reported PA, such as IPAQ, is not specifically designed to assess VO_{2max}, they do report

frequency, intensity and duration of the individuals recently PA habits, which is related to VO_{2max} (Schembre & Riebe, 2011).

Non-exercise models

When investigating the association between self-reported PA and VO_{2max} , several "nonexercise models" of CRF have been developed with the aim to predict VO_{2max} in the measured population (Matthews et al., 1999; Nes et al., 2011; Neto & Farinatti, 2003; Papathanasiou et al., 2010; Schembre & Riebe, 2011). CPETs of VO_{2max} are usually replaced with a multiple linear regression model (Neto & Farinatti, 2003). These models often include easily accessible measures such as self-reported PA, gender, body composition and age (Nes et al., 2011; Neto & Faninatti, 2003). Additionally, one study observed that the predictive power of the non-exercise model was higher if it accounted for the intensity of PA, rather than if the participant had performed PA or not (Siconolfi et al., 1985). Thus, PA intensity correspondingly became a vital factor in prediction studies on VO_{2max} (Neto & Farinatti, 2003; Silconolfi et al., 1985).

Schembre & Riebe (2011) observed that, when adjusting for covariates, self-reported vigorous PA and gender was significantly associated with VO_{2max} . Similarly, Papathanasiou et al (2010) found vigorous PA to be significantly associated with VO_{2max} . Yet, moderate PA showed no significant association with VO_{2max} (Papathanasiou et al., 2010). However, both these study samples are limited to university students within the age group of 18 to 29 years (Papathanasiou et al., 2010; Schembre & Riebe, 2011). Thus, this limit generalization to other age groups. Another study found self-reported vigorous PA, in addition to gender, age and body weight, to account for 69% of variance in measured VO_{2max} (Aadahl et al., 2007). Yet, total amount of PA was not significantly associated with VO_{2max} . Comparably, Nes et al (2011) observed that self-reported PA, age and waist circumference to account for 59% and 54% of variance in VO_{2max} for men and women, respectively.

Since former research has seen a trend of overestimating activity level with use of self-report (Steene-Johansen et al., 2016), these referenced studies (Aadahl et al., 2016; Matthews et al., 1999; Nes et al., 2011.; Papathanasiou et al., 2010; Schembre & Riebe, 2011) are subject to major misclassification of activity level. Non-exercise models also tend to overestimate VO_{2max} in unfit individuals, and underestimate VO_{2max} in fit individuals (Jackson et al., 1990; Mathews et al., 1999; Scembre & Riebe, 2011). One study found their non-exercise model to underestimate the true VO_{2max} among participants with >55. mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ (Jackson et al.,

1990). Another study concluded that non-exercise models fails to provide the accuracy needed for categorizing CRF within large epidemiological cohort studies where the purpose is to assess mortality risk (Whaley et al., 1995).

2.5.2 Device-measured physical activity and maximal oxygen uptake

Some studies with device-measured PA, has also been conducted within this field. Activity level is usually assessed with an accelerometer or a fitness watch (Cao et al., 2010; Dyrstad et al., 2016; Kwon et al., 2019; Mundwiler et al., 2017; Prioreschi et al., 2017). When adjusting for potential covariates, one study found a significant association between leisure-time PA and VO_{2max} (Mundwiler et al., 2017). Participants who conducted in sufficient MVPA during work days also had a significant higher VO_{2max} than participants who did not (Mundwiler et al., 2017). Similarly, another study found a significant association between energy expenditure from PA measured with a watch fitness watch (Fitbit) and VO_{2max} (Kwon et al., 2019). Yet, there is lack on validity studies on activity level measured with a fitness watch (Kwon et al., 2019). Furthermore, both these findings (Kwon et al., 2019; Mundwiler et al., 2017) rely on an accelerometer placed on the wrist.

In contrast, another study measured activity level with an accelerometer placed on the hip for seven constructive days (Prioreschi, Brage, Wesgate, Norris & Micklesfield, 2017). When adjusting for covariates, the study found a significant positive association between minutes in MVPA, in addition to lower BMI and male gender, with VO_{2max}. However, a limitation with these three declared studies (Kwon et al., 2019; Mundwiler et al., 2017; Prioreschi et al., 2017) is that they rely on a cross-sectional study design, which may limit any causality conclusions.

One study found daily steps per day, minutes in MVPA and vigorous PA was significantly associated with higher VO_{2max} among men and women (Cao, Myatake, Higuchi, Miyachi & Tabata., 2010. The study concluded that step counts and vigorous PA was useful when predicting VO_{2max} variance in men, and MVPA and vigorous PA was useful when prediction VO_{2max} variance in women. Similar findings was found by Dyrstad and colleagues (2016). The study assessed activity level both with use of self-reported PA (IPAQ) and device-measured PA (Actigraph). The study found a significant association between device-measured vigorous PA and VO_{2max} for men and women, and a significant higher VO_{2max} was

observed for participants who were sufficient active (>150 minutes of MVPA) (WHO,2010) during a week (Dyrstad et al., 2016). Yet, the study observed that variation in measured activity level may reflected a generally small variation in VO_{2max} (Dyrstad et al., 2016). The difference in VO_{2max} between the most physical active and least active group was only 16%. Thus, this may indicate that VO_{2max} is more dependent on other factors than the individual's activity level. However, this study also had some limitations (Dyrstad et al., 2016). VO_{2max} was measured 5-8 months after self-reported and device-measured activity level. The participants may therefore have increased or decreased their VO_{2max} after their respected activity level was measured (Dyrstad et al., 2016).

2.5.3 Physical activity intensity effect on maximal oxygen uptake

In epidemiological studies who control for energy expenditure, the greatest health benefits are seen at higher intensities (Swain & Franklin, 2006; Ross et al., 2015). The majority of evidence favors more cardioprotective benefits from vigorous intensity PA than from moderate intensity PA. Therefore, there should be a greater association between vigorous intensity PA and higher VO_{2max} (Swain, 2005). This greater association is particularly observed in self-reported studies (Aadahl et al., 2007; Papathanasiou et al., 2010; Schembre & Riebe, 2011). However, this may be because vigorous PA is easier recalled and reported in questionnaires (Aadahl et al., 2007). Dyrstad et al (2016) also found self-reported vigorous PA to overestimate device-measured vigorous PA with 9 and 17 minutes for men and women, respectively.

Yet, the favors of vigorous PA, may not be the case for untrained participants. Current training status may have an influence on the association between intensity specific PA and VO_{2max} (Lang et al., 2018). The higher the initial state of fitness, the smaller is the relative improvement for the same volume of training is observed (Kenney et al., 2009, p.268). Trained participants usually demand higher intensities (>85% of maximal heart rate), longer durations and more frequent bouts of PA, to improve VO_{2max} (Lang et al., 2018). However, this does not seem to be the case for untrained participants. Swain and Franklin (2002) concluded that no threshold intensity was appearance for participants with VO_{2max} <40 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹. Usually a significant increase in VO_{2max} was observed, regardless of training intensity (Swain & Franklin, 2002).

Another study investigated if there was a difference effect on VO_{2max} by either 150 minutes of moderate PA or 75 minutes of vigorous PA weekly among overweight and untrained participants (Jung, Locke, Bourne, Beauchamp & Lee., 2020). Both groups increased their VO_{2max} , and no significant group differences on VO_{2max} was observed (Jung et al., 2020). It is also stated that brisk walking (<50% of maximal heart rate) 3 to 4 times a week, over a period of >12 weeks, can obtain an increase of 5-15% in VO_{2max} among untrained participants (Lang et al., 2018).

2.6 The Fitness club industry

The Fitness Club industry has since the 1990s, grown to be one of the most important arenas for the general population to engage in PA. In 2018, it was estimated to be a total of 210 number of fitness clubs, with approximately 183 million members worldwide (IHRSA, 2018). Number of fitness clubs has also increased extensively in Norway during the last decade. In 2008 it was estimated that there was a total of 477 fitness clubs in Norway (Virke, 2018). This increased to a total of 1179 per October 2018, with 141 clubs in Oslo only (Virke, 2018). A third of the physical active population in Norway reports fitness clubs as their most used setting for exercise (Thidermann & Rekdal, 2017).

Considering the enormous health benefits of PA, it is apparent that the fitness club industry, contributes to an enhancement of public health. In the Public Health Report (2014-2015), The Norwegian Government stated that the fitness club industry provides a major contribution to public health by facilitating and promoting PA (Thidemann, Tønnessen, Pettersen, & Arntzen, 2016). Two thirds of the people surveyed in Norway also reports low levels to no PA before signing up at a fitness club (Thidermann & Rekdal, 2017).

Fitness clubs are found to be preferred due to the comfort of the facilities and the possibility to commit to specific exercise times and activities, while also providing an opportunity for social interactions, achieve desired health benefits and improve one's physical appearance (Riseth et al., 2019). One study found that the majority of new fitness club members reported they were motivated to exercise by health-related reasons (MacIntrosh & Law, 2015). Particularly improving their own well-being, in the form of improved physical fitness, mental health and appearance (MacIntrosh & Law, 2015). This was also found in a study by Gjestvang, Stensrud & Haakstad (2019). The study reported a moderate improvement in

 VO_{2max} , but no changes in maximal muscle strength and body composition during the first year of a fitness club membership. These were the results despite an increase in physical fitness as the main motive for exercise among the participants (Gjestvang et al., 2019).

"The Sapporo fitness club trial" also found that regular exercise at a fitness club was associated with an increase in VO_{2max} (Nishijima et al., 2007). The study investigated the effect on cardiovascular risk associated with training in a fitness club over 6 months (Nishijima et al., 2007). The intervention group, who trained on average, 2.6 times per week at their respected fitness club, had a significant greater improvement in VO_{2max} (2.0 $mL\cdot kg^{-1}\cdot min^{-1}$) compared with the control group. Another study also found fitness club members to have more favorable cardiovascular outcomes compared to non-members (Schroeder, Welk, Franke & Lee, 2017).

3. Aim of the study

With respect to the development of the evidence-based PA recommendations (WHO, 2010), it is expected that individuals who are sufficiently active, also have higher levels of VO_{2max} . Hence, it can be argued that physical fitness is a mediating factor that affects the strength of association between PA level and development of disease (Celis-Morales et al., 2017; Ross et al., 2016). Thus, it is essential to investigate if individuals with high activity level, has higher levels of VO_{2max} , compared with those with low activity levels.

Assessment of VO_{2max} requires skilled technicians, expensive equipment, are time consuming, as well as the potential risk to maximal physical efforts for the participant. Such testing may be unpractical to implement in the general adult population (Dyrstad et al., 2016; Nes et al., 2011). An important contribution to future research would therefore be if VO_{2max} could be predicted by a non-exercise model. For instance, by a non-exercise model who included device-measured PA and individual factors that are known to have a vital influence on VO_{2max} .

The majority of previous research within this field, with respect to the association between PA level and VO_{2max} , as well as non-exercise models, has used self-reported PA (Aadahl et al., 2007; Nes et al., 2011; Papathanasiou et al., 2010; Schembre & Riebe, 2011; Siconolfi et al., 1985). Numerous of former findings are also not updated (Aadahl et al., 2007; Berthouze et al., 1995; Cao et al., 2010; Silconolfi et al., 1985). Thus, since the current PA recommendations was recently updated, has former device-measured studies only included PA who was performed in bouts of at least 10 minutes in their analysis (Dyrstad et al., 2016; Mundwilder et al., 2017).

The associations between PA and VO_{2max} , as well as the accuracy of a non-exercise model still need to be clarified with further investigation. Device-measured PA may contribute to a greater methodological accuracy, and eliminate potential bias due to overestimation of PA level when use of self-reports. With use of a longitudinal study design, we are able to investigate the association between total activity level and VO_{2max} at two different occasions, and if changes in the predictive variables (minutes in MVPA and total cpm) over time, reflects changes in the outcome (VO_{2max}). With regards to the updated PA recommendations, that does no longer include bouts of 10 minutes, it would also be valuable to investigate if PA performed in any bouts was associated with higher levels of VO_{2max} .

The majority of former research has also investigated this in the general population. To our knowledge, has no other studies investigated this in a fitness club setting. Since VO_{2max} was the only factor associated with exercise attendance among fitness club members (Gjestvang et al., 2019), it may be valuable to investigate if there is an association between total activity level and VO_{2max} in this particular setting as well.

Following research aim was developed:

"The aims of the present study were to investigate the association between device-measured PA (MVPA and total cpm) and results of a VO_{2max} test among untrained adults at start-up and following 1-year of fitness club membership. Further, we wanted to investigate if a non-exercise model including device-measured PA and individual factors (fat mass%, BMI, age and gender) could predict VO_{2max} "

4. METHOD

4.1 Study design

This master thesis was part of the research project: "Fitness clubs – a venue for public health?". A longitudinal prospective study that followed new members at 25 fitness clubs in Oslo, Norway to study different factors that may explain why someone manage while others fail to maintain exercise over time. The research project was financed and conducted by the Norwegian School of Sport Sciences within the period of October 2015 to October 2017.

The overall research project, including test protocol and test procedure was reviewed by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics (REK 2015/1443 A) who concluded that, according to the "Act on medical and health research" (the Health Research Act 2008), the research project did not require full review by REK (Appendix 1). The project was approved by the Norwegian Social Science Data Service (NSD 44135) (Appendix 2 and 3).

In accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, before participating, all participants received written information about the project's purpose and procedures. Participation involved no harmful or invasive examinations. Discomfort due to maximal effort was seen as harmless among healthy adults. The participants provided informed consent to conduct in the project, and were in position to withdraw from the project at any time with no justification required. All data from the project was anonymized and kept confidential according to the Health Research Act. No economic compensation was given.

4.1.1 Participants

Eligibility criteria were: ≥ 18 years, less than 4 weeks fitness club membership, untrained defined as exercising less than 60 minutes a week at moderate or vigorous intensity, or brisk walking less than 150 minutes a week the previous 6 months.

All new members were approached to take part in the study. After registration at their respective fitness club, they received an email regarding information about the research project (Appendix 4). Figure 1 illustrates how many newly registered members who contacted the research group concerning interest in the project, and how many participants were measured at membership start-up and at 1-year follow-up.

A total of 125 participants underwent device-measured PA, measures of VO_{2max} , body composition and anthropometry, as well as answering an electronic questionnaire at membership start-up. Of these, were 61 participants measured again at 1-year follow-up. A total of 64 participants were lost to follow-up, whereas 16 due to life situation, 10 due to disease, and 38 due to other reasons.



Figure 1: Flowchart diagram of total participants who contacted the research group, and total participants measured at membership start-up and at 1-year follow-up.

4.2 Data collection and measurements

4.2.1 Electronic questionnaire

The original electronic questionnaire took approximately 30 minutes to complete, and contained of 52 questions at membership start-up, and 65 questions at 1-year follow-up. Six questions concerning descriptive characteristics of the participants were included in this master thesis. These are translated and presented below:

1. Gender:

Options: "male", "female"

2. <u>Age:</u>

Options: years

3. <u>What was your household's gross income (in NOK) the preceding year? (include all income from work, social security, social welfare and etc.)</u>

Options: "<125.500", "125.000-200.00", "201.000-300.00", 301.000-400.000", "401.000-550.000", "551.000-7000.00", "701.000-850-000", ">850.000".

4. What is your current occupation?

Options: "employed in the public sector", "employed in the private sector", "self-employed, "apprentice/vocational practice", "disability benefit", "seeking employment/furloughed", "homemaker", "student", "retired", "other", "choose not to answer".

5. Educational attainment (*Norwegian education system):

Options: "standard level of education", "higher education (vocational)", "higher education (academic)", "further education" (less than 4 years), "further education" (more than 4 years), other form for education, "choose not to answer"
<u>Do you smoke daily?</u>

Options: "yes", "no".

4.2.2 Measures of total physical activity level

Total PA (total cpm) and minutes in MVPA were assessed with preprogrammed accelerometers "ActiGraph GT1M" at membership start-up and after 1-year follow-up. The participants were given standardized instructions, including how to wear the accelerometer prior to the intervention periods. The accelerometers were worn on the hip, for seven constructive days. All participants accumulating in a minimum of 10 hours of activity recordings each day for at least 4 days were included in the data analysis.

Different intensities of PA with count threshold corresponding to the energy cost of the given intensity were applied in the analysis. Sedentary behavior was defined as all activity <100 cpm. Light intensity PA was defined as all activity between 100-2019 cpm, and MVPA was defined as all activity \geq 2020 cpm. To define proportions meeting PA recommendations, the total amount of minutes above 2020 cpm during the measuring period was summed up, then the number was then divided on amount of days with valid registration. Fulfilling of PA recommendations was determined if the participant accumulating in a minimum of 150 minutes of weekly MVPA (WHO, 2010).

PA data are presented as 1) total activity level (cpm), 2) number of minutes spent in MVPA, 3) percentage of the participants accumulating in \geq 150 minutes of MVPA weekly.

4.2.3 Measures of maximal oxygen uptake

CRF was measured as VO_{2max} with a CPET at membership start-up and at 1-year follow-up. Body weight was measured prior to the test protocol for accurate measures. The CPET was conducted on a treadmill, using the stepwise modified Balke protocol until exhaustion. VO_{2max} was measured with indirect calorimetry (Oxycon Pro; Jaeger). The participants breathed through a Hans Rudolph mask, which covered the mouth, and was nose-attached to a non-rebreathing tube. Expired air/gas were continuously sampled each 30 second during the CPET. To measure the participants maximal heart rate, a heart rate monitor (Polar RS800) was used. The participant started with a 3 min warm-up at an initial speed of 4.5 km/h with no inclination. Further, the inclination increased by 5% every minute up to 20%. The speed was kept constant at 4,5 km/h. Accordingly, the speed increased 0.5 km/h every minute, while inclination was kept constant at 20%.

The Borg Scale (range 6-20) was used for rating of perceived exertion. The CPET was stopped when the participants reach maximal exhaustion (\geq 19 on the Borg scale). To verify a valid (maximal) VO_{2max}, RER had to be between, 1.10 and 1.30, according to the age-dependent results reported by Edvardsen and colleagues (2013). The highest VO_{2max}, and the highest RER corresponding to the highest minute ventilation were reported. All analyzers were calibrated after manufactures guidelines prior to each test day, and all CPET were supervised by the same research fellow to obtain inter-rater reliability.

4.2.4 Anthropometry and body composition

Measures of height, body weight and body composition were conducted under standardized test procedures, without shoes and light clothing. The participants fasted a minimum two hours before measures. Height was measured with a stadiometer (Seca scale, Mod: 8777021094, S/N: 5877248124885). Body weight and body composition (fat mass%) were measured with Inbody 720 (Biospace). To compresence for clothing, the measurement tool was calibrated to subtract 0.5 kg. The participant had to stand straight, with their feet aligned with the electrodes on the measuring platform, with the handles in each hand. Research fellows plotted in ID number, height and gender prior to the measures. The test took approximately 2 minutes to complete.

Participants with a BMI >25 was classified as overweight, and participants with a BMI >30 was classified with obesity (WHO, 2020). Reference values for fat mass% was 30% for women and 20% for men.

4.3 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS Statistical Software V.24.0 for Windows. Level of significance was set as $p \le 0.05$ for all analyzes.

Before univariate analysis was performed, the data material was tested for normality by use of Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. For normal distributed data, an independent t-test were assessed to address gender differences between continuous variables. Non-parametric test was performed for non-normal distributed data, and a chi-square test was performed on categorical variables. Background variables are presented as means with standard deviation (SD) for continuous data and frequencies (n) and percentages (%) for categorical variables.

To assess the associations between device-measured PA (MVPA and total cpm) and results on the VO_{2max} test, we included data obtained at membership start-up and after 1-year of fitness club membership. To interpret potential independent covariates, univariate analysis was performed on participants above or below reference values for VO_{2max} (Edvardsen et al., 2013). If there was also pre-existing evidence that a factor could be a potential covariate for the association between device-measured PA and VO_{2max} , the factors were included in the analysis.

A Pearson correlation was performed for minutes in MVPA and VO_{2max} , as well as total cpm and VO_{2max} at membership start-up and at follow-up. To assess for potential covariates, and to develop a non-exercise model, a multiple linear regression adjusted for covariates was performed. The final adjusted model contained four covariates: BMI and fat mass%. which were significantly different between groups below or above reference values for VO_{2max} (Edvardsen et al., 2013), and gender and age were included, hence that these are covariates known to have a vital influence on VO_{2max} (Bassett and Howley, 2000; Joyner & Lundby, 2018; Lee et al., 2010; Mezzani, 2017; Williams et al., 2017). To evaluate the precision of the non-exercise model, the multiple coefficient of determination (R²) and the absolute standard error of estimate (SEE) was assessed. A Bland Altman plot was also performed to visually illustrate the agreement between measured VO_{2max} and predicted VO_{2max} from the nonexercise model at membership start-up and at follow-up.

5. RESULTS

5.1 Descriptive characteristics

Background variables for all participants (n=125), and men (n = 62) and women (n=63) at membership start-up are presented in Table 3. Age ranged from 18-71 and 21-59 years among men and women, respectively (p=.04). In terms of BMI, 58 % of the men and 33% of the women were classified as overweight (BMI >25) (p=<.001). A total of 9.6% men and 9.5% women was classified with obesity (BMI>30) (p=.95). In terms of fat mass%, 45.5% of the participants had a fat mass% above reference values (p = 1.0).

The majority (82.4 %) of the participants was full-time employed, with gender differences (p=.05) (Table 3). A third of the participants had household gross income >850.000 NOK.

Descriptives	Total (n=125)	Women (n=63)	Men (n=62)	Sig.
Age (yrs)	36.8 (±11.0)	34.8 (±10.0)	38.8 (±11.7)	.04
Height (cm)	174 (±10)	167.4 (±5.8)	182.4 (±7.2)	<.001
Weight (kg)	77.1 (±14.8)	68.8 (±12.6)	85.5 (±12.5)	<.001
BMI (kg/m ²)	25 (±3.9)	24.6 (±4.5)	25.6 (±3.2)	.13
Fatt mass %				
Smokes daily	7 (5.6%)	4 (6.3%)	3 (4.8%)	.71
Higher education >4 yrs	57 (45.6%)	31 (49.2%)	26 (41.9%)	.08
Employed	103 (82.4%)	46 (73%)	57 (91.9%)	.005
Household income >850 000 NOK	41 (32.8%)	19 (30.2%)	22 (35.5%)	.526

Table 3: Data are given for all participants and divided into women and men at membership start-up. Results are presented as mean (and standard deviation, SD) or number (and percentage), and p-value.

BMI=Body mass index. Cpm=counts per minute. VO_{2max}= Maximal oxygen uptake. MVPA=Moderate-to-Vigorous-Physical Activity.

5.1.1 Total physical activity level

The majority of the participants met the current recommendations of 150 minutes of weekly MVPA at membership start-up (80%) and after 1-year follow-up (83%), respectively (Table 4). Mean minutes of vigorous PA was significantly lower at 1-year follow-up (22.7 minutes), compared with membership start-up (26.4 minutes, p = .002). The participants completed 6.4 (±1.6) and 6.0 (±1.5) days with valid activity recordings at membership start-up and follow-up, respectively (p=.02). Mean daily accelerometer wear time was 13.8 (±1.2) hours/d at both time points.

5.1.2 Physical fitness

Mean VO_{2max} (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) was 37.8 (\pm 7.2) and 39.95 (\pm 8.4) at membership start-up and at 1-year follow-up, respectively (p=.093) (Table 4). More participants (42.9%) were above reference values for VO_{2max} at 1-year follow-up, compared with membership start-up (32%, p=<.001).

5.1.3 Covariates

Mean fat mass% decreased from membership start-up to 1-year follow-up (mean difference: -

1.72, p=.013) (Table 4). Gender was equally distributed at both time points (p=.92).

Table 4: The participants, total activity level, physical fitness and individual factors at membership start-up (n=125) and at 1-year follow-up (n=61). Results are presented as mean (and standard deviation, SD), and p-value.

	Membership start-up	1-Year follow-up	Sig.
	(n=125)	(n=61)	U
Women/men (n)	63/62	31/32	.92
Age (yrs)	36.8 (±11.0)	38.3 (±10.6)	.090
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.95 (±3.7)	24.84 (±3.9)	.563
Fat mass (%)	24.84 (±8.7)	23.11 (±9.7)	.013
Total physical activity			
level			
Accelerometer recording			
Mean days	6.4 (±1.6)	6.0 (±1.5)	.02
Hours/day	13.8 (±1.2)	13.8 (±1.2)	.08
Total PA (cpm)	357.0 (±113.6)	375.8 (±123)	.23
MVPA/weekly	266.7 (±134.5)	278.3 (±147)	.54
>150 min MVPA/weekly	100 (80 %)	51 (83.6%)	.002
Moderate PA (min)	240.3 (±117)	255.49 (±133)	.873
Vigorous PA (min)	26.4 (±37.8)	22.7 (±43.8)	.002
Physical fitness			
Time to exhaustion	9 72 (+1 5)	10.08(+1.6)	195
VO_{2max} (mL·kg ⁻¹ ·min ⁻¹)	3883(+72)	39.95(+8.4)	.093
$VO_{2max}(L/min)$	289(+07)	307(+08)	.027
>Refferance values for age	40(32%)	27(42.9%)	<.001
groups	10 (32:70)	27 (12.970)	
Max heart rate	179.4 (±21.3)	180.7 (±12.7)	.31
Borg scale (1-20)	19.23 (±0.7)	19.1 (±0.8)	.036
RER	1.37 (±.0.1)	$1.32 (\pm 0.1)$	<.001

BMI=Body mass index. Cpm=counts per minute. VO_{2max}= Maximal oxygen uptake. MVPA=Moderate-to-Vigorous-Physical Activity. RER=Respiratory Exchange Rate

5.2 Association between total activity level and maximal oxygen uptake

Table 5 shows a correlation matrix of all independent factors and VO_{2max} . All factors were significantly correlated with VO_{2max} at membership start-up (p=<.05).

Table 6 shows results from the full multiple linear regression model, adjusted for covariates.

5.2.1 Total activity level (total cpm and minutes in MVPA)

At membership start-up, we observed a significant positive association between total cpm and VO_{2max} (r(124) = .275, p=.001) as well as minutes in MVPA and VO_{2max} (r(124)=.259, p=.002) (Table 5). No significant association was observed between total cpm and VO_{2max} (r(60)=.198, p=.063), as well as minutes in MVPA and VO_{2max} (r(60)=.123, p=.173) at one-year follow-up.

In the full model adjusted for covariates (BMI, fat mass%, gender and age), we observed no significant association between total cpm and VO_{2max}, or minutes in MVPA and VO_{2max} at either of the time points (Table 6). Participants VO_{2max} increased .001 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ for each minute of MVPA at membership start-up (p=.83). The opposite was found at follow-up, where VO_{2max} decreased .006 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ for each increase in minutes of MVPA (p=.527). For every accumulated cpm, participants VO_{2max} increased .009 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ at membership start-up (p=.08), and .016 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ at follow-up (p=.164) (Table 6).

5.2.2 Covariates (BMI, fat mass%, age and gender)

BMI, fat mass%, gender and age were all negatively associated with VO_{2max} at membership start-up and at follow-up (p<.05) (Table 5). Fat mass% showed the greatest association at membership start-up (r(124)=-.716, p=<.001) and at follow-up (r(60)=-.626, p=<.001).

In the full model adjusted for covariates, age and fat mass% were significantly associated with VO_{2max} at membership start-up, and age and gender were significantly associated with VO_{2max} at follow-up. For each increase in year, there was a decrease of .243 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ in VO_{2max} at membership start-up (p=<.001), and .263 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ at follow-up (p=<.001). For each increase in fat mass%, VO_{2max} decreased .443 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ at membership startup (p=<.001) and decreased with .138 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ at follow-up (p=.345).
Gender (female) was associated with a decrease of 2.017 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ in VO_{2max} at membership start-up (p=.161) and 8.651 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ at follow-up (p=<.001). In the full model, BMI showed no significant association with VO_{2max} at membership start up (p=.475) or at follow-up (p=.09).

Table 5: Correlation matrix of VO_{2max} and independent factors at membership start-up (n=125) and after 1-year follow-up (n=61).

	Membership start-up (n=125)	1-year follow-up (n=61)	
Срт	.275**	.198	
MVPA	.259*	.123	
BMI	479**	367*	
Fat mass%	716**	626 **	
Gender	382**	494**	
Age	470**	324*	

VO_{2max} (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹)

BMI=Body Mass Index. Cpm=Counts Per Minute. MVPA=Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity. P<.05* P<.001**

<i>Table 6:</i> Multiple linear regression for estimating VO _{2max} at membership start	-up (n=1	25) and at 1	l-year
follow-up (n=61).			

	В	SE	T-score	95% CI	
1embership tart-up n=125) 2 ² =.690 ** EE:4.084					
Constant Cpm MVPA BMI Fat mass% Gender Age	60.449 .009 .001 124 443** -2.017 243**	4.477 .005 .005 .173 .101 1,429 .037	13.502 1.765 .213 717 -4.402 -1.412 -6.584	51.583 001 008 -465 643 -4.846 316	69.316 .020 .010 .218 244 .813 170
Constant Cpm MVPA BMI Fat mass% Gender	74.410 .016 006 523 138 -8.651**	8.557 .012 .010 .303 ,145 2.373	8.696 1.410 637 -1.726 953 -3.646	57.247 007 025 -1.130 430 -13.411	91.573 .039 .013 .085 .153 -3.892
	Constant Cpm MVPA BMI Fat mass% Gender Age Constant Cpm MVPA BMI Fat mass% Gender Age	Constant 60.449 Cpm .009 MVPA .001 BMI 124 Fat mass% 443** Gender -2.017 Age 243** Constant 74.410 Cpm .016 MVPA 006 BMI 523 Fat mass% 138 Gender -8.651** Age 263**	D D D Constant 60.449 4.477 Cpm .009 .005 MVPA .001 .005 BMI 124 .173 Fat mass% 443** .101 Gender -2.017 1,429 Age 243** .037 Constant 74.410 8.557 Cpm .016 .012 MVPA 006 .010 BMI 523 .303 Fat mass% 138 .145 Gender -8.651** 2,373 Age 263** .071	Constant 60.449 4.477 13.502 Cpm.009.005 1.765 MVPA.001.005.213BMI 124 .173 717 Fat mass% $443**$.101 -4.402 Gender -2.017 $1,429$ -1.412 Age $243**$.037 -6.584 Constant 74.410 8.557 8.696 Cpm.016.012 1.410 MVPA 006 .010 637 BMI 523 .303 -1.726 Fat mass% 138 .145 953 Gender $263**$ $.071$ -3.726	Constant 60.449 4.477 13.502 51.583 Cpm .009 .005 1.765 001 MVPA .001 .005 .213 008 BMI 124 .173 717 -465 Fat mass% 443^{**} .101 -4.402 643 Gender -2.017 1.429 -1.412 -4.846 Age 243^{**} .037 -6.584 316 Constant 74.410 8.557 8.696 57.247 Cpm .016 .012 1.410 007 MVPA .006 .010 637 025 BMI 523 .303 -1.726 -1.130 Fat mass% 138 .145 953 430 Gender 263^{**} .071 -3.726 405

BMI=Body Mass Index. Cpm=Counts Per Minute. MVPA=Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity. SEE= Standard Error of Estimate. R²= multiple coefficient of determination. P<.05* P<.001**

5.2.3 Predicted VO_{2max} from a non-exercise model

Adjusted R² of the non-exercise model was high, and the six factors (total cpm, minutes in MVPA, BMI, fat mass%, gender and age), explained 69% (SEE= 4.084 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹, p=<.001) and 58.8% (SEE= 5.6899 mL·kg⁻¹min⁻¹, p=<.001) of variance in measured VO_{2max} at membership-start-up and at follow-up, respectively.

The Bland Altman plot demonstrates the difference between measured VO_{2max} and predicted VO_{2max} by the non-exercise model (total cpm, minutes in MVPA, BMI, fat mass%, age and gender) at membership start-up and at follow-up (Figure 2 and 3). Black and white dots represent participants above and below reference values for VO_{2max} (Edvardsen et al., 2013), respectively.

At membership start-up, the non-exercise model overestimated on average VO_{2max} by 0.0229 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹-, with 95% confidence limits of agreement varying from + 7.791 to -7.837 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ (Figure 2). At 1-year follow-up, the non-exercise model underestimated VO_{2max} by .0856 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹, with 95% confidence limits of agreement varying from 10,760 to -10.931 (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹). (Figure 3). Seven and five participants were outliers of the 95% limits of agreement at membership start-up and at follow-up, respectively. We observed a significant difference in mean difference between participants above and below reference values for VO_{2max} at both time points (p=<.001) (Figure 2 and 3).



Figure 2: Bland Altman plot illustrating the difference between predicted and measured VO_{2max} at membership start-up (n=125). Mean difference and 95% limits of agreement (1.96 SD) are illustrated with straight and dotted lines, respectively. Black and white dots represent participants above and below reference values for VO_{2max} , respectively (Edvardsen et al., 2013).



Figure 3: Bland Altman plot illustrating the difference between predicted and measured VO_{2max} at follow-up (n=61). Mean difference and 95% limits of agreement (1.96 SD) are illustrated with straight and dotted lines, respectively. Black and white dots represent participants above and below reference values for VO_{2max} , respectively (Edvardsen et al., 2013).

6. DISCUSSION

6.1 Results

6.1.1 Main findings

Main findings in this study was that device-measured PA was significantly associated with VO_{2max} at membership start-up, yet not at 1-year follow-up among untrained newly registered fitness club members. When adjusting for potential covariates (BMI, fat mass%, age and gender), no significant association was observed between total activity level and VO_{2max} at membership start-up or at 1-year follow-up.

The non-exercise model explained 69% and 58.8% of variance in measured VO_{2max} at membership start-up and at follow-up, respectively. Age and fat mass% were the strongest predictors for VO_{2max} at membership start-up, and age and gender were the strongest predictors for VO_{2max} at one-year follow-up.

6.1.2 Association between device-measured physical activity (MVPA and cpm) and maximal oxygen uptake

We observed that device-measured PA (minutes in MVPA and total cpm) were significantly associated with VO_{2max} at membership start-up. However, when controlling for potential covariates (BMI, fat mass%, gender and age), minutes in MVPA and total cpm were not significantly associated with VO_{2max} at either of the time points.

MVPA had the lowest correlation of all independent factors at membership start-up and at follow-up. This low correlation has been confirmed in previous research (Cao et al., 2010; Schembre & Riebe, 2011). Cpm showed a low, but significant correlation with VO_{2max} at membership start-up. Compared with Dyrstad et al (2016) findings, we observed a stronger correlation between cpm and VO_{2max} . Yet, inconsistent with former research (Nes et al., 2011; Papathanasiou et al., 2010; Prioreschi et al., 2017; Schembre & Riebe, 2011), when adjusting for potential covariates, we found no significant association VO_{2max} by total activity level (cpm) or minutes in MVPA at either of the time points.

Low and high responders to Physical Activity

A source of bias in our findings are individual differences due to the genetical distribution of VO_{2max} . There are clear biological factors related to oxygen transport or muscular strength that is independent of PA habits (Joyner & Lundby, 2018). As previously referred, genetics may be responsible for as much as 50% of variation in measured VO_{2max} (Bouchard & Rankinen, 2001; Nes et al., 2011), and a substantial proportion of participants in previous research has also been classified as non-responders (Bouchard & Rankinen, 2001; Hautala et al., 2006). Therefore, participants in this present study with high activity level, may not necessary be reflected by a high VO_{2max} .

When untrained, young and middle-aged participants engage in training program based on the current PA recommendations for 10-20 weeks, the increase in VO_{2max} ranges from 0 to nearly 40-60% (Joyner & Lundby, 2018). The Heritage study (1995) reported that approximately 10-20% of participants responded only minimally to training with an increase in VO_{2max}, and consequently demonstrated limited or no trainability in response to a public health guideline-informed program (Joyner & Lundby, 2018; Skinner et al., 2001). Therefore, the adaption in VO_{2max} is proven to be a subject of a large variation of high to low responders at all ages and in both genders. Thus, due to individual differences, the PA guideline recommendations may not be efficient enough to obtain an increase in VO_{2max} for all individuals (Joyner & Lundby, 2018).

Limited vigorous Physical Activity

The majority of research within this field, favors vigorous PA when investigating the association between activity level and VO_{2max} (Aadahl et al., 2007; Dyrstad et al., 2016; Papathanasiou et al., 2010; Schembre & Riebe, 2011). Several studies has also not observed a significant association between activities with a moderate intensity and VO_{2max} (Papathanasiou et al., 2010; Schembre & Riebe, 2011). Thus, this may be due to the fact that VO_{2max} is greater influenced by vigorous PA (Ross et al., 2015; Swain, 2005; Swain & Franklin, 2006). Yet, in the present study, most of the participants conducted in moderate intensity PA. Mean minutes of vigorous PA was 26 min/week and 23 min/week at membership start-up and at follow-up, respectively. This is much lower than the current PA recommendations for vigorous PA (>75 minutes/week) (Helsedirektoratet, 2016; WHO, 2010). Still, we do not know if this low prevalence of vigorous PA is caused by

accelerometers limitations in capturing vigorous PA (Brage, Wedderkopp, Franks, Bo Andersen & Froberg, 2003).

Participants with higher VO_{2max} values at beginning of training, usually demand an intensity at >85% of maximal heart rate to achieve any improvement in VO_{2max} (Lang et al., 2018). This would be classified as vigorous PA. Yet, Swain (2002) reported that no threshold was found among untrained participants (Swain, 2002). However, even though the participants in the present study was classified as untrained, was 32.8% and 42.9% of the current participants above references values specific for age and gender (Edvardsen et al., 2013) at membership start-up and at follow-up, respectively. Thus, we may speculate that for these participants, PA performed at higher intensity is needed to have an effect on their VO_{2max} level. With regards to the possibility of non-responders on VO_{2max}, a randomized control trial by Ross et al (2015) found that for a fixed amount of exercise, increasing the intensity (from 50% to 75% of VO_{2max}) eliminated all non-responders on VO_{2max}, and stated that most healthy individuals are trainable, if training regimes at higher intensities are conducted (Ross et al., 2015). This underlines the importance of enhancing the general population to participate in vigorous PA as well as moderate intensity PA.

Individual day-to-day variability and type of physical activity

The intra-individual day-to-day variability of PA may have influenced our findings (Warren et al., 2010). Physical fitness remains relatively static, or eventually improves over time, while PA can vary daily (Warren et al., 2010). The measurement periods may therefore not reflect the individual's total activity habits; hence it only gives a glance of the participants activity level from that particular week.

Since accelerometer does not measure type and aim of the activity, it is uncertain whether the participants conducted in any structured exercise during the measurement period, or if the total volume was incidental PA. Considering that mean minutes of vigorous PA was low at both time points, and the participants were categorized as untrained at membership start-up, there are reason to believe that some of the participants did not conduct in structured training within the two measurement periods. Even though incidental PA may have an positive influence on VO_{2max} (McGuire & Ross, 2011), it will not improve VO_{2max} in the same amount as structured training (Strath et al., 2013).

Differences in measurement method

Another explanation to why we did not find an association between activity level and VO_{2max} when adjusting for covariates as other studies have found, may be the use of different measurement methods when assessing activity level. Dyrstad et al (2014) found self-reported PA to overestimate device-measured PA with 54 minutes for moderate intensity PA and 13 minutes for vigorous intensity PA. This indicates a substantial difference between self-reported and device-measured PA (Dyrstad et al., 2014). Thus, it is not unexpected that our results somewhat differ from previously findings from self-report (Aadahl et al., 2007; Papathanasiou et al., 2010; Schembre & Riebe, 2011).

One study (Cao et al., 2010) who assessed device-measured PA, found steps per day to be significantly associated with VO_{2max} , when adjusting for covariates. Thus, we may have found different results if total steps per day were included in the full regression model. However, total cpm is the main unit when assessing total activity level (Dyrstad et al., 2014), and was therefore best suited for our research question. Further, sufficient minutes in MVPA is more relevant with regards to the current global recommendations for PA (Piercy et al., 2018; WHO,2010).

Two other studies (Kwon et al., 2019; Mundwiler et al., 2017) found components of devicemeasured activity level to be significantly associated with VO_{2max} when adjusting for covariates. However, both of these studies assessed PA with a wrist-worn accelerometer, which is proven to have lower accuracy compared to hip placement (Arvidsson et al., 2019). The measurement period in Kwon et al (2019) study was also restricted to 3 days. Which may be too short to reflect the individuals activity level (Aadland & Ylvisåker, 2015; Trost et al., 2005).

Inactive participants

Findings in this study may be biased due to inactive participants. We do not know if other results may have been found on more active participants. Even though 80% and 83.6% of the participants met the current PA recommendations (Piercy et al., 2018; WHO, 2010) at membership start-up and at follow-up respectively, it is essential to acknowledge that the present study did not excluded PA performed in bouts less than 10 minutes due to the updated PA recommendations (Piercy et al., 2018). A former study by Gjestvang et al (2019) studied the prevalence of participants meeting the previous PA recommendations (PA performed in

43

bouts of >10 minutes, WHO, 2010) in the same participant group. The study found that 37.7% and 45.9% of the participants met \geq 150 min weekly of MVPA at membership start-up and at follow-up, respectively. This prevalence was similar to the prevalence found in the general Norwegian adult population (Hansen et al., 2019; Helsedirektoratet, 2016).

Hence, despite the prevalence of sufficiently active participants in this present study were high, there are reasons to believe that they were not as active as declared. Since we do not know what type of PA the participants conducted, and the occurrence of high and low responders on VO_{2max} in the participant group, may not a high activity level be correspondingly associated with a high VO_{2max} for all individuals. However, improved VO_{2max} is not the only health outcome of sufficient PA. Still, there is substantiable evidence supporting the inverse relationship between PA and the risk developing disease and premature morality (Helsedirektoratet, 2016; Lee et al.,2012; Shiroma & Lee, 2010; WHO, 2010). Therefore, encouraging the population to be sufficient active should still be a prioritized health policy.

6.1.3 Covariates

Body Mass Index and fat mass%

High fat mass% seems to be greater associated with low VO_{2max} , compared with BMI. Fat mass% showed the highest correlation with VO_{2max} at both time points, and added significantly to the full regression model at membership start-up. A significant correlation between VO_{2max} and fat mass% has been confirmed by Kwon et al (2019). Former research has also established that fat mass% is a better predictor for risk of disease, since it reflects body composition, which BMI does not (Zeng et al., 2012). Furthermore, fat mass% is seen to be independently associated cardiovascular risk factors (Zeng et al., 2012).

In discrepancy, there is uncertainty if body mass itself, or the ratio between fat-free mass and lean body mass is the main influence on VO_{2max} . While one study concluded that only fat free mass, and not fat mass influences VO_{2max} (Goran, Fields, Hunter, Herd & Weinster, 2000), found another study that VO_{2max} decreased with obesity (Hulens, Vansant, Lysens, Claessens & Muls ,2001). However, Maciejcyk et al (2014) found that high body mass, regardless of cause, decreased VO_{2max} . Findings from "The National Health and Nutrition Examination survey" indicate a significant lower VO_{2max} among individuals categorized with overweight and obesity (Wang et al., 2010). Thus, which was also shown in this present study, there is reason to believe high body fat will have a negative impact on VO_{2max} values.

The relationship between fat mass% and VO_{2max} may also be indirectly influenced by the individual's activity level. In general, more active individuals have a lower fat mass% compared with inactive individuals (Bradbury, Guo, Cairns, Armstrong & Key, 2017). Individuals categorized with obesity and overweight in the Norwegian population has also lower odds of meeting the current PA recommendations (Hansen et al., 2019). Thus, this may indirectly influence their VO_{2max} .

Age

In line with former research (Cao et al., 2010; Kwon et al., 2019; Nes et al., 2011), age showed the greatest association with VO_{2max} of all factors. Age was significantly correlated with VO_{2max} at both time points. This correlation is confirmed by former research (Cao et al., 2010; Kwon et al., 2019). In the full regression model, age was the only factor that was significantly associated with VO_{2max} at both time points. This is in line with Kwon et al (2019) findings, were 32% of variance in VO_{2max} was explained by age only. Similarly, Nes et al (2011) concluded that age was the most potent determinant for VO_{2max} values.

The decline of VO_{2max} with increasing age is well documented in the literature (Anderssen et al., 2010; Berthouze et al., 1995; Betik & Hepple, 2008; Jackson et al., 1995; Jackson et al., 1996). For inactive individuals, VO_{2max} is estimated to decline approximately 8% to 10% per decade after the age of 30 (Betik & Hepple, 2008; Edvardsen et al., 2013; Mezzani, 2017), and 20% per decade after the age of 70 (Betik & Hepple, 2008). This is mainly caused by decreasing maximal heart rate, reduced blood flow to skeletal muscles, reduces stroke volume and potential alterations in the so-called muscle diffusing capacity (Betik & Hepple, 2008).

However, an individual's activity level is also seen to decrease with increasing age (Betik & Hepple, 2008; Helsedirektoratet, 2016; WHO, 2010), which may in turn have a vital influence on VO_{2max} . Even though age is a non-modifiable factor, the decline in VO_{2max} among active individuals is stated to be approximately half of the percentage for inactive individuals (Betik & Hepple, 2008).

Gender

Consistent with previous research (Aadahl et al., 2007; Prioreschi et al., 2017; Schembre & Riebe, 2011) we observed gender to predict a clear influence on VO_{2max} among fitness club members. Female gender was negatively correlated with VO_{2max} at both time points, and in the full regression model, gender was significantly associated with VO_{2max} at follow-up. Thus, being male seems to be positively associated with higher VO_{2max} .

In this present study, was a gender difference of 2 (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) at membership start-up and 8.7 (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) at 1-year follow-up observed. In previous research with comparable aim, has a difference of 7.5 to 11.9 (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) between genders been found (Dyrstad et al., 2016; Mundwiler et al., 2017; Prioreschi et al., 2017; Schembre & Riebe, 2011). Also, in Norway, an average difference of 20-30% has been found between gender in every age group (Anderssen et al., 2010).

Though, the association between VO_{2max} and gender in this present study was fairly greater at follow-up than at membership start-up, despite gender was equally distributed at both times. This may be due to the fact that mean difference in VO_{2max} between gender was 2.8 (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) higher at follow-up than at membership start-up. However, there are reason to believe that this may be due to the reduction in sample size at follow-up. Since a higher risk of individual differences may occur (Kristman & Cote, 2004).

In contrast to previous research (Hansen et al., 2019; Prioreschi et al., 2017), no gender differences were observed in activity level at membership start-up or at follow-up. No gender differences were also not found in percentage of participants above or below reference values for VO_{2max} (Edvardsen et al., 2013). This indicates that the gender differences found in the present study may be due to morphological and physiological differences between men and women (Berthouze et al., 1995; Mezzani, 2017). For instance, women have higher percentage of body fat, lower proportion of muscle and mitochondria mass, and lower hemoglobin concentration than men (Mezzani, 2017), which influences their physical fitness.

6.1.4 Predicted maximal oxygen uptake from a non-exercise model

The non-exercise model including time spent in MVPA, total cpm, BMI, fat mass%, gender and age, accounted for 69% and 58.8% of variance in measured VO_{2max} at membership start-

up and after 1-year of fitness club membership, respectively. Thus, the non-exercise model was more accurate at predicting the participants VO_{2max} at membership start-up. Although, this may be caused by that more than half of the initial sample (51.2%) were lost to CPET at 1-year follow-up.

The six factors predicted variation in VO_{2max} are consistent with findings found by former non-exercise models (Aadahl et al., 2007; Dyrstad et al., 2016; Mundwiler et al., 2017; Nes et al., 2011). Yet, we observed the non-exercise model to be a subject of large variation at the individual level. The mean difference between participants predicted and measured VO_{2max} ranged from. 9.4 to -10.6 (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) at membership start-up and 13.5 to -12.2 (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) at follow-up. With regards to participants above and below reference values for VO_{2max} (Edvardsen et al., 2013), the non-exercise model underestimated 90% and 84.6% of participants above reference values and overestimated 69% and 79% of participants below reference values for VO_{2max} at membership start-up and at follow-up, respectively. This is consistent with former research indicating that non-exercise models to underestimate VO_{2max} in trained participants, and overestimate VO_{2max} in untrained participants (Jackson et al., 1990; Mathews et al., 1999; Schembre & Riebe, 2011).

The non-exercise model developed in this study did include individual factors that are shown to be the most dominant predictors for VO_{2max} (Bassett & Howley, 2000; Betik & Hepple, 2008; Lee et al., 2010; Mezzani, 2017). However, due to the fact that non-exercise models do not account for genetic distribution, Nes et al (2011) stated that an observed variance above 60% may be as close as one may come with non-exercise models. The non-exercise model developed in this study may therefore be a feasible and useful tool for a rough estimate of VO_{2max} when assessment of VO_{2max} is not achievable.

6.2 Methodological considerations

6.2.1 Study design

Data material in this master thesis was from the overall project "Fitness clubs – a venue for public health", a longitudinal prospective study. A major strength with longitudinal studies is the ability to observe individual patterns of change (Belle, Fisher, Heagerty, Lumley, 2004 p.729). Since data is collected from individuals within a predefined group, we can analyze changes over time for the total group or for an individual (Song & Chung, 2010). In this

present study, we were able to analyze if changes in the independent factors (minutes in MVPA and total cpm) covary with changes in the depended factor (VO_{2max}).

However, this study design also has some disadvantages. For instance, the risk of bias due to dropout of study participants (Belle et al., 2004 p.729). High drop-out rate can provide a follow-up sample that are not representative for the original target population (Belle et al., 2004 p.729), and loss of statistical power (Kristman & Cote, 2004). This study design is also sensitive to confounding factors, which are factors that can have an essential influence on the measured outcome (Caruana et al., 2015; Song & Chung,2010). To limit the influence by confounding factors in this present study, individual factors that was known to influence VO_{2max} (age, gender and body composition and BMI) were included as covariates in the full regression model. This contributes to a measurement strength of the study.

6.2.2 Participants

Participation in the study was voluntary, and newly registered SATS ELIXIA members had to contact the research group to be included in the study. Only 275 of the total 6115 who received an email regarding the project contacted the research fellows. Response rate for email surveys are influenced by personal interest of the participants, or if the participant rapports an email address they check at a frequently basis (Saleh & Bista, 2017). A potential explanation for this low participation rate is that all newly registered members received the email, regardless if they meet the inclusion criteria's or not. Another explanation might also be that newly members only received one mail, without further clarification regarding the project. Therefore, they might have forgotten to answer, or did not find the project relevant for them. We also speculate that new members already receive several emails regarding their new fitness club membership.

Our initial sample size of 125 at membership start-up are consistent with other studies with comparable aim (Aadahl et al., 2007; Cao et al., 2010; Papathanasiou et al., 2010). Yet, since more than half (n=64) of the participants were lost to 1-year follow-up, recruiting more participants could have been a potential strength of the study. Although, a follow-up sample of approximately 50% has been suggested as adequate (Kristman, Manno & Côté, 2004). Thus, our follow-up sample is within acceptable forms, yet below 70%, which is suggested as a decent follow-up sample (Kristman et al., 2004).

Even though our participants ranged in age and was equally gender distributed at both time points, they were homogenous with respect to ethnicity, and several of the participants had high socioeconomic status. One third had gross household income above 850000 NOK yearly. Monthly membership fees at SATS is also at average 659 NOK/monthly, which is more expensive compared with other fitness club chains in Oslo (*SATS, 2020*). It is reported that individuals with higher socioeconomic status are more likely to participate in PA, compared with individuals with lower socioeconomic status (Eime et al., 2015). Therefore, other results may have been found if the study was conducted at a low-cost fitness club chains, or if participants were from rural areas elsewhere than Oslo. However, SATS is one of the major fitness club centers in Oslo, and a large percentage of the population uses these respected fitness clubs

The study did also not observe a significant difference between above or below reference values for VO_{2max} (Edvardsen et al., 2013) with gross household income, occupation or education level. Gjestvang and colleagues (2019) did also not find a significant difference in low or high exercise attendance to socioeconomic status on this participant group. Thus, there is reason to believe that socioeconomic status had a small impact on our current findings. A high percentage of the Norwegian adult population also has high socioeconomic status (FHI, 2018).

6.3 Measurements

6.3.1 ActiGraph

The type of ActiGraph used in this present study was uniaxial. Therefore, it only measured movement in one axis, compared with ActiGraph GT3X, which allows triaxial data collection (Vanhelst et al., 2012). This may have underestimated movement in another axis than the vertical axis. Still, data are usually only obtained from the vertical axis in assessment of activity level (Chomistek et al., 2017). Measures by GT1M and GT3X are also showing similar results when collected in the uniaxial mode (Kaminsky & Ozemek, 2012; Sasaki, John, Freedson, 2011).

Placement of the accelerometer

Hip placed accelerometer has some limitations when accessing vigorous PA (Brage et al., 2003; Dyrstad et al., 2016). One study found that ActiGraph counts peaked when running

speeds was at 10 km/h and started to even out when speed was increased (Brage et al., 2003). Hence, this measurement method may underestimate vigorous PA. One other study found that the sensitivity and specificity values for thigh-worn accelerometer were greater compared with wrist- or hip-worn accelerometers at all intensities of PA (Montoye, Pivarnik, Mudd, Biswas & Pfeiffer, 2016). In contrast, another study compared six different body placements, and found hip placement to be the optimal placement to capture a variety of activities (Cleland et al., 2013). As our participants were categorized as untrained at membership startup, there is reasons that several of the participants did not conduct in vigorous running above 10 km/h. Hip placement is also more convenient when measuring free living PA (Arvidsson et al., 2019).

Underestimation of activities

Since ActiGraph is an electro-mechanical device, this precludes their use for estimating energy expenditure in for instance water sports (McCurdy, 2015). They have also proven to be inaccurate for activities like cycling and resistance exercise. Particularly cycling and water sports are activities that may influence VO_{2max} (McCurdy, 2015). Thus, this leads to a systematic under-estimation of MVPA in individuals that participates in these types of activities, and accelerometers are therefore best suited to evaluate activities involving walking or running (McCurdy, 2015). Although, the questionnaire in the overall research project did ask participants to report if they had conducted swimming, cycling or resistance training within the measurement period. If so, they were asked to report duration and frequency of the respected activities. Though, this study only compared device-measured activity level to VO_{2max} , hence, self-reported swimming, cycling or resistance training was not further analyzed.

ActiGraph does not register type or aim of the given activity, in contrast to for instance IPAQ (Dyrstad et al., 2014; Steene-Johannessen et al., 2016). The device can however determine intensity of the activity based on the given cut-points. Yet, even though there is no consensus regarding cut-points to determine the intensity of PA (Migueles et al., 2017), the current cut-points used in this present study are in line with average cut-points used for the adult population in prior PA research (Metzger et al., 2008; Migueles et al., 2017). Other studies with a comparable main aim have also used these respected cut-points (Dyrstad et al., 2016; Hansen et al., 2019; Prioreschi et al., 2017).

50

Reactivity

While wearing an accelerometer, the participants may be more aware of their activity habits, therefore achieve a higher activity level than under normal circumstances (Baumann et al., 2018). This is usually a result of social desirability, and is described as reactivity (Baumann et al., 2018; Davis & Lorpinizi, 2016). One study found a difference of 4% to 4.5% between first day, and second and third day of the intervention period (Davis & Loprinzi, 2016). However, the study concluded that there is not enough evidence supporting reactivity to influence the percentage of the population meeting the current PA recommendations (Davis & Loprinzi, 2016). This was confirmed by Baumann et al (2018), where minutes in MVPA was not influenced by accelerometer measured reactivity. This variation in PA level can also be caused by day-to-day variation of PA (Warren et al., 2010). Potential bias due to reactivity is also limited in this present study, since the participants underwent two measurement periods, in addition to mean days with valid measures was 6.4 days at membership start-up and 6.0 days at follow-up.

6.3.2 Cardiopulmonary exercise test

All CPETs were supervised by the same research fellow, which was essential to obtain interrater reliability. Further, as CPET is considered to be the gold standard to assess VO_{2max} , this may be considered a major strength of the present study (Schoffelen et al., 2019).

In litterature has a steady state at the end of the CPET been considered as a criteria to determine a true VO_{2max} value (Beltz et al., 2016). Yet, since the modifed balke protcoll is a protocoll that not achive a "steady state" at the end of the test, it can be argued that our results are peak maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2peak}) which is the highest physiological attainable value derived from a graded exercise test (Betlz et al., 2016). However, a valid exercise test was determined by end criteria's such as a RER score between 1.10-1.30, as well as self-perceived exertion (Borg-scale) at >19 (Borg, 1970). Yet, there should be acknowledged, that when these parameters are used as a criteria for VO_{2max} determination, they can underestimate the actual measured value with about 26% (Poole, Wilkerson & Jones, 2008). There is also individual day-to-day variability in human biology and motivation (Joyner & Lundby, 2018), which may influence the results on the current test-day. Thus, these two factors could eventually lead to a potential measurement bias of VO_{2max} assessment.

The stepwise modified Balke protocol

Since the present study aimed at recruiting untrained participants, the modified Balke protocol was a well-suited protocol. Hence, it gives a more modest increase in workload compared with other graded exercise protocols, and the initial speed is of low intensity (Aadland et al., 2017; Fletcher et al., 2013). Yet despite the Balke protocol being suiting for untrained participants, did some participants report that the CPETs was too painful due to exercising to volitional exhaustion. This feedback may be one of the explanations of the high drop-out rate (n=64) at 1-year follow-up.

However, this may be caused by the fact that the maximal test was assessed on a treadmill. CPETs conducted on a treadmill until exhaustion may not be suitable for individuals who have different health challenges related to pain or fatigue. Church et al (2007) concluded that maximal test conducted on a cycle ergometer were better tolerated for untrained participants. On the other side, treadmill protocols have several advantages over cycling protocols (Albouaini et al., 2007). It can also be argued that walking and running are universal activities, and the most frequently reported type of activities in the Norwegian population (Helsedirektoratet, 2016). This may also explain why treadmill protocols for measurement of VO_{2max} can produce up to 20% greater VO_{2max} values compared with cycling protocols (Beltz et al., 2016; Muscat et al., 2015).

Aadland et al (2017) stated that there is a lack of data on the reliability of the modified Balke protocol. The study found the protocol to be an accurate measure of VO_{2max} on a group level across age and gender, while showing a substantiable amount of bias when assessing VO_{2max} on an individual level (Aadland et al., 2017. Yet, another study compared cardiopulmonary responses between four protocols for maximal testing, including the Balke protocol (Pollock et al., 1976), and found no significant difference in VO_{2max} achieved between the four protocols, despite the differences in VO_2 plateau. A pilot study conducted by Burchardt, Clark and Padrick (1989) also found the modified Balke protocol to be a suitable method for determining CRF in women with fibromyalgia. The participants were categorized as untrained, like the participants in this present study. The study had, however, a small number of participants (n=9).

The Balke protocol has also been used in previous larger studies who has included broad range of different individuals (Anderssen et al., 2010; Dyrstad et al., 2016; Edvardsen et al.,

2013). For instance, the reference values for VO_{2max} (Edvardsen et al., 2013) used in this present study was derived from a maximal treadmill test using a stepwise modified Balke protocol. Thus, since Edvardsen et al (2013) used the same protocol for VO_{2max} assessment as this present study, this increased the comparability of VO_{2max} values.

6.4 Practical implications and future research

If we can predict VO_{2max} by an easily accessible measure, this may have a major impact on future epidemiological studies. Hence, to do so in a public health setting, it is important to have an understanding of the factors influencing VO_{2max} .

To our knowledge, was this the first study to report longitudinal data with respect to the association between device-measured PA and VO_{2max} in new, untrained fitness club members. Findings in this study indicates that there is not one principal cause for low or high VO_{2max} . Hence, VO_{2max} is influenced by multiple factors, and genetics can cause a broad range of heterogenic in amount of adaption from health guideline-informed PA programs. This may also explain why the non-exercise model developed in this study showed a suitable amount of bias in predicting the participants VO_{2max} at the individual level.

Since research on fitness club members and the association between device-measured PA and VO_{2max} are limited to this present study, more should be conducted. For example, randomized controlled trials monitoring for VO_{2max} genetical influence. Or combined self-reported PA with device-measured PA to investigate if different types of PA (occupational, leisure-time or incidental) are more associated with higher VO_{2max} . With regards to the fitness club context, other studies on low-cost fitness club chains, or in more rural areas outside of Oslo are also needed within this field. Hence a large percentage in Oslo have high socioeconomic status (FHI, 2018), which may have an influence on health and PA habits (Eime et al., 2015). The majority of the participants in this study also had low VO_{2max} . Thus, more research is needed on both trained and untrained participants with high to low VO_{2max} before any final conclusions can be drawn.

6.5 Strength and limitations

Strong aspects of the present study were the use of a prospective longitudinal study design, enrollment of 125 participants, with an equal number of men and women, and a wide age

53

specter. Furthermore, a valid and reliable graded exercise test (modified Balke protocol) was used to measure VO_{2max} , as well as a device-measurement method (Actigraph GT1M) to measure activity level, both contributing to reducing the risk of measurement error and improves study results reliability. The participants were also measured at two occasions. This may limit some of the risk of potential bias caused by day-to-day variability in activity level, and bias due to human biology and motivation, which may have an influence on the current test day when VO_{2max} is assessed. Additionally, both minutes in MVPA and total cpm was used as metric of units to compare activity level with VO_{2max} (Bassett et al., 2015), which therefore reflects total activity level and if the participants did or did not met the current PA recommendations (WHO, 2010).

The present study also had some limitations. The high number of participants lost to followup may contribute to lower methodical accuracy when participants were measured at one-year follow up. Further, since the accelerometer in this present study was uniaxial, it is likely to underestimate upper body and horizontal movements (such as cycling and resistance training). The measurement periods of PA may also not represent the participants PA habits, for instance due to day-to-day variability in PA level (Warren et al., 2010), and the measurement period only reflect the individual's activity level from that measured week. Therefore, the risk of measurement bias can still occur with device-measured PA.

Another potential bias in our study may be the high percentage of participants with high socioeconomic status and that the majority were of Norwegian descent. Hence, generalizing these findings to the overall Norwegian population might be limited, since the study sample was also narrowed to members at one fitness club chain in an urban area of Norway. Other findings may have occurred if we recruited a more diverse group, containing both untrained and trained individuals with low to high VO_{2max} .

7. CONCLUSION

At membership start-up, we found an association between device-measured PA (time spent in MVPA and total cpm) and VO_{2max} in untrained new fitness club members. Yet, at one-year follow-up, no significant association was observed. When adjusting for covariates (BMI, fat mass%, age and gender), no association between device-measured PA and VO_{2max} was found at either of the time points. Age, gender and fat mass% were the strongest predictors explaining VO_{2max} , and was stronger associated with VO_{2max} , compared with current PA level. However, these factors are also influenced by the individual's activity level. This underlines that the association between activity level and VO_{2max} is complex, and there is not one principal cause for high or low VO_{2max} .

The non-exercise model including time spent in MVPA, total cpm, BMI, fat mass%, gender and age explained 69% and 58.8% of variance in measured VO_{2max} among fitness club members at membership start-up and at follow-up, respectively. The non-exercise model developed in this study may be a feasible tool for establishing a rough estimate of VO_{2max} at the group level among healthy and untrained fitness club members with generally low VO_{2max} values.

REFERENCES

- Aadahl, M., Kjær, M., & Jørgensen, T. (2007). Associations between overall physical activity level and cardiovascular risk factors in an adult population. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 22(6), 369–378. DOI:10.1007/s10654-006-9100-3
- Aadland, E., Solbraa, A. K., Resaland, G. K., Steene-Johannessen, J., Edvardsen, E., Hansen, B. H., & Anderssen, S. A. (2017). Reference values for and cross-validation of time to exhaustion on a modified Balke protocol in Norwegian men and women. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 27(11), 1248–1257. DOI: 10.1111/sms.12750
- Aadland, Eivind, & Ylvisåker, E. (2015). Reliability of Objectively Measured Sedentary Time and Physical Activity in Adults. *PLOS ONE*, 10(7). DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133296
- Albouaini, K., Egred, M., & Alahmar, A. (2007). Cardiopulmonary exercise testing and its application. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 83(985), 675–682. DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2007.121558
- Antunes-Correa, L. M. (2018). Maximal oxygen uptake: New and more accurate predictive equation. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 25(10), 1075–1076. DOI: 10.1177/2047487318780442
- Anderssen, S.A., Hansen, B.H., Kolle, E., Lohne-Seiler, H., Edvardsen, E., & Holme, I. (2010). Fysisk form blant voksne og eldre I Norge (IS-1816). Retrived from: <u>Https://helsedirektoratet.no/Lists/Publikasjoner/Attachments/714/Fysisk-form-blant-voksne-og-eldre-resultater-fra -en-kartlegging-i-2009-2010-IS-1816.pdf</u>.
- Arvidsson, D., Fridolfsson, J., & Börjesson, M. (2019). Measurement of physical activity in clinical practice using accelerometers. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 286(2), 137–153. DOI: 10.1111/joim.12908

- Aspenes, S., Nilsen, T., Skaug, E.-A., Bertheussen, G., Ellingsen, Ø., Vatten, L., & Wisløff, U. (2011). Peak Oxygen Uptake and Cardiovascular Risk Factors in 4631 Healthy Women and Men. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 43(8), 1465–1473. DOI: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31820ca81c
- Balke, B & Ware R.W. (1959) An experimental study of physical fitness of Air Force personnel. US Armed Forces Medical Journal 10(6), 675-88.
- Bassett, D.R & Howley E.T. (2000). Limiting factors for maximum oxygen uptake and determinants of endurance performance. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 32(1), 70. DOI: 10.1097/00005768-200001000-00012
- Bassett, D. R., Troiano, R. P., Mcclain, J. J., & Wolff, D. L. (2015). Accelerometer-based Physical Activity: Total Volume per Day and Standardized Measures. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 47(4), 833–838. DOI:10.1249/MSS.000000000000468
- Baumann, S., Groß, S., Voigt, L., Ullrich, A., Weymar, F., Schwaneberg, T., Dörr, M., Meyer, C., John, U., & Ulbricht, S. (2018). Pitfalls in accelerometer-based measurement of physical activity: The presence of reactivity in an adult population. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 28(3), 1056–1063. DOI: 10.1111/sms.12977
- Belle G., Fisher, L.D., Heagerty P.J, & Lumley, T (2004) *Biostatistics: A Methodology for the Health Sciences (2nd)*. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Beltz, N. M., Gibson, A. L., Janot, J. M., Kravitz, L., Mermier, C. M., & Dalleck, L. C.
 (2016). Graded Exercise Testing Protocols for the Determination of VO_{2max}: Historical Perspectives, Progress, and Future Considerations. *Journal of Sports Medicine*. DOI: 10.1155/2016/3968393
- Berthouze, S., Minaire, P., Castells, J., Busso, T., Vico, L., & Lacour, J.-R. (1995).
 Relationship between mean habitual daily energy expenditure and maximal oxygen uptake. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 27(8), 1170–1179. DOI: 10.1249/00005768-199508000-00011

- Betik, A. C., & Hepple, R. T. (2008). Determinants of VO_{2max} decline with aging: An integrated perspective. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 33(1), 130–140. DOI: 10.1139/H07-174
- Blair, S. N., Kampert, J. B., Kohl, H. W., Barlow, C. E., Macera, C. A., Paffenbarger, R. S., & Gibbons, L. W. (1996). Influences of Cardiorespiratory Fitness and Other Precursors on Cardiovascular Disease and All-Cause Mortality in Men and Women. *JAMA*, 276(3), 205–210. DOI: /10.1001/jama.1996.03540030039029
- Booth, F. W., Roberts, C. K., & Laye, M. J. (2012). Lack of exercise is a major cause of chronic diseases. *Comprehensive Physiology*, 2(2), 1143–1211. DOI: 10.1002/cphy.c110025
- Bouchard, C. & Rankinen, T. (2001). Individual differences in response to regular physical activity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 33(6), 446-453.DOI: 10.1097/00005768-200106001-00013
- Bradbury, K. E., Guo, W., Cairns, B. J., Armstrong, M. E. G., & Key, T. J. (2017).
 Association between physical activity and body fat percentage, with adjustment for
 BMI: A large cross-sectional analysis of UK Biobank. *BMJ Open*, 7(3). DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011843
- Borg, G. (1970). Perceived exertion as an indicator of somatic stress. *Scandinavian Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 2(2), 92–98.
- Brage, S., Wedderkopp, N., Franks, P. W., Bo Andersen, L., & Froberg, K. (2003).
 Reexamination of Validity and Reliability of the CSA Monitor in Walking and Running. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 35(8), 1447–1454. DOI: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000079078. 62035.EC
- Burckhardt, C. S., Clark, S. R., & Padrick, K. P. (1989). Use of the modified Balke treadmill protocol for determining the aerobic capacity of women with fibromyalgia. *Arthritis Care and Research: The Official Journal of the Arthritis Health Professions Association*, 2(4), 165–167. DOI:10.1002/anr.1790020412

- Cao, Z.-B., Miyatake, N., Higuchi, M., Miyachi, M., Ishikawa-Takata, K., & Tabata, I.
 (2010). Predicting VO_{2max} with an objectively measured physical activity in Japanese women. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 42(1), 179–186.
 DOI:10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181af238d
- Cao, Z.-B., Miyatake, N., Higuchi, M., Miyachi, M., & Tabata, I. (2010). Predicting VO_{2max} with an objectively measured physical activity in Japanese men. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 109(3), 465–472. DOI: 10.1007/s00421-010-1376-z
- Caruana, E. J., Roman, M., Hernández-Sánchez, J., & Solli, P. (2015). Longitudinal studies. Journal of Thoracic Disease, 7(11), 537–540.DOI: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.10.63
- Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., & Christenson, G. M. (1985). Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: Definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Reports*, 100(2), 126–131.
- Celis-Morales, C. A., Lyall, D. M., Anderson, J., Iliodromiti, S., Fan, Y., Ntuk, U. E., Mackay, D. F., Pell, J. P., Sattar, N., & Gill, J. M. R. (2017). The association between physical activity and risk of mortality is modulated by grip strength and cardiorespiratory fitness: Evidence from 498 135 UK-Biobank participants. *European Heart Journal*, 38(2), 116–122. DOI:10.1093/eurheartj/ehw249
- Choi, J., Lee, M., Lee, J., Kang, D., & Choi, J.-Y. (2017). Correlates associated with participation in physical activity among adults: A systematic review of reviews and update. *BMC Public Health*, 17(1), 356. DOI: 10.1186/s12889-017-4255-2
- Chomistek, A. K., Yuan, C., Matthews, C. E., Troiano, R. P., Bowles, H. R., Rood, J.,
 Barnett, J. B., Willett, W. C., Rimm, E. B., & Bassett, D. R. (2017). Physical Activity
 Assessment with the ActiGraph GT3X and Doubly Labeled Water. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 49(9), 1935–1944. DOI:
 10.1249/MSS.00000000001299

- Church, T. S., Earnest, C. P., Skinner, J. S., & Blair, S. N. (2007). Effects of Different Doses of Physical Activity on Cardiorespiratory Fitness Among Sedentary, Overweight or Obese Postmenopausal Women with Elevated Blood Pressure: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *JAMA*, 297(19), 2081–2091. DOI: 10.1001/jama.297.19.2081
- Cleland, I., Kikhia, B., Nugent, C., Boytsov, A., Hallberg, J., Synnes, K., McClean, S., & Finlay, D. (2013). Optimal Placement of Accelerometers for the Detection of Everyday Activities. *Sensors*, 13(7), 9183–9200. DOI: 10.3390/s130709183
- Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., Sjöström, M., Bauman, A. E., Booth, M. L., Ainsworth, B. E., Pratt, M., Ekelund, U., Yngve, A., Sallis, J. F., & Oja, P. (2003). International Physical Activity Questionnaire: 12-Country Reliability and Validity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 35(8), 1381–1395.DOI: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- Davis, R. E, & Loprinzi, P. D. (2016). Examination of Accelerometer Reactivity Among a Population Sample of Children, Adolescents, and Adults. *Journal of Physical Activity* & *Health*, 13(12), 1325–1332. DOI: 10.1123/jpah.2015-0703
- Ding, D., Lawson, K. D., Kolbe-Alexander, T. L., Finkelstein, E. A., Katzmarzyk, P. T., van Mechelen, W., & Pratt, M. (2016). The economic burden of physical inactivity: A global analysis of major non-communicable diseases. *The Lancet*, 388(10051), 1311– 1324. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30383-X
- Dyrstad, S. M., Anderssen, S. A., Edvardsen, E., & Hansen, B. H. (2016). Cardiorespiratory fitness in groups with different physical activity levels. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 26(3), 291–298.DOI: 10.1111/sms.12425
- Dyrstad, Sindre M., Hansen, B. H., Holme, I. M., & Anderssen, S. A. (2014). Comparison of Self-reported versus Accelerometer-Measured Physical Activity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 46(1), 99–106.DOI: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182a0595f

- Edvardsen, E., Hansen, B. H., Holme, I. M., Dyrstad, S. M., & Anderssen, S. A. (2013).
 Reference values for cardiorespiratory response and fitness on the treadmill in a 20- to 85-year-old population. *Chest*, 144(1), 241–248. DOI: 10.1378/chest.12-1458
- Edvardsen, E., Hem, E., & Anderssen, S. A. (2014). End Criteria for Reaching Maximal Oxygen Uptake Must Be Strict and Adjusted to Sex and Age: A Cross-Sectional Study. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1). DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0085276
- Eime, R. M., Charity, M. J., Harvey, J. T., & Payne, W. R. (2015). Participation in sport and physical activity: Associations with socio-economic status and geographical remoteness. *BMC Public Health*, 15(1), 434. DOI:10.1186/s12889-015-1796-0
- Fletcher Gerald F., Ades Philip A., Kligfield Paul, Arena Ross, Balady Gary J., Bittner Vera A., Coke Lola A., Fleg Jerome L., Forman Daniel E., Gerber Thomas C., Gulati Martha, Madan Kushal, Rhodes Jonathan, Thompson Paul D., & Williams Mark A. (2013). Exercise Standards for Testing and Training. Circulation, 128(8), 873–934. DOI: 0.1161/CIR.0b013e31829b5b44
- Gjestvang, C., Stensrud, T., & Haakstad, L. A. H. (2019). Are changes in physical fitness, body composition and weight associated with exercise attendance and dropout among fitness club members? Longitudinal prospective study. *BMJ Open*, 9(4), e027987.
 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-027987
- Gjestvang, C., Stensrud, T., Hansen, B., Kolle, E., & Haakstad, L. (2019). Are fitness club members likely to meet the current physical activity recommendations? *Translational Sports Medicine*, 3.75-83 DOI: <u>10.1002/tsm2.120</u>
- Goran, M., Fields, D., Hunter, G., Herd, S., & Weinsier, R. (2000). Total body fat does not influence maximal aerobic capacity. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders: Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*, 24, 841–848. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0801241

- Hansen, B. H., Kolle, E., Steene-Johannessen, J., Dalene, K. E., Ekelund, U., & Anderssen, S. A. (2019). Monitoring population levels of physical activity and sedentary time in Norway across the lifespan. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 29(1), 105–112.DOI: 10.1111/sms.13314
- Hautala, A. J., Kiviniemi, A. M., Mäkikallio, T. H., Kinnunen, H., Nissilä, S., Huikuri, H. V.,
 & Tulppo, M. P. (2006). Individual differences in the responses to endurance and resistance training. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 96(5), 535–542. DOI: 10.1007/s00421-005-0116-2
- Helsedirektoratet (Last updated: 2019, April) Fysisk aktivitet for voksne og eldre. Retrived from: <u>https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/faglige-rad/fysisk-aktivitet-for-barn-unge-voksne-eldre-og-gravide/fysisk-aktivitet-for-voksne-og-eldre</u>
- Helsedirektoratet: (2015) Fysisk aktivitet og sedat tid blant voksne og eldre i Norge -Nasjonal kartlegging 2014-2015 (IS-2367).
- Helsedirektoratet (last updated: 2016, June) *Statistikk om fysisk aktivitetsnivå og stillesitting*. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/tema/fysisk-aktivitet/statistikk-om-fysisk-aktivitetsniva-og-stillesitting#kartlegging-av-fysisk-aktivitet</u>
- Herman Hansen, B., Børtnes, I., Hildebrand, M., Holme, I., Kolle, E., & Anderssen, S. A.
 (2014). Validity of the ActiGraph GT1M during walking and cycling. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *32*(6), 510–516.DOI: 10.1080/02640414.2013.844347
- Howley, E.T. (2001). Type of activity: Resistance, aerobic and leisure versus occupational physical activity. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *33*(6).364-369.
- Hulens, M., Vansant, G., Lysens, R., Claessens, A. L., & Muls, E. (2001). Exercise capacity in lean versus obese women. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 11(5), 305–309.DOI: 10.1034/j.1600-0838.2001.110509.x
- Ihrsa (2018) The 2019 global IHRSA global report. Retrieved from: https://www.ihrsa.org/publications/the-2019-ihrsa-global-report/

- Jackson, A. S., Wier, L. T., Ayers, G. W., Beard, E. F., Stuteville, J. E., & Blair, S. N. (1995). Changes in aerobic power for men, ages 25-70 yr. 27(1)113-20.
- Jackson, A. S., Wier, L. T., Ayers, G. W., Beard, E. F., Stuteville, J. E., & Blair, S. N. (1996). Changes in aerobic power of women, ages 20-64 yr. *Medicine and Science in Sports* and Exercise, 28(7), 884–891. DOI:10.1097/00005768-199607000-00016
- Jackson, Andrew S., Blair, S. N., Mahar, M. T., Wier, L. T., Ross, R. M., & Stuteville, J. E. (1990). Prediction of functional aerobic capacity without exercise testing. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 22(6), 863–870.
- Joyner, M. J., & Lundby, C. (2018). Concepts About V'O2max and Trainability Are Context Dependent. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 46(3), 138–143. DOI: 10.1249/JES.00000000000150
- Jung, M. E., Locke, S. R., Bourne, J. E., Beauchamp, M. R., Lee, T., Singer, J., MacPherson, M., Barry, J., Jones, C., & Little, J. P. (2020). Cardiorespiratory fitness and accelerometer-determined physical activity following one year of free-living highintensity interval training and moderate-intensity continuous training: A randomized trial. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 17(1), 25. DOI:10.1186/s12966-020-00933-8
- Kaminsky, L. A., Arena, R., & Myers, J. (2015). Reference Standards for Cardiorespiratory Fitness Measured with Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 90(11), 1515–1523.DOI:10.1016/j.mayocp.2015.07.026
- Kaminsky, L. A., & Ozemek, C. (2012). A comparison of the Actigraph GT1M and GT3X accelerometers under standardized and free-living conditions. *Physiological Measurement*, 33(11), 1869–1876. DOI: 10.1088/0967-3334/33/11/1869
- Kenney W.L., Wilmore J.H & Costill D.L. (2011) Physiology of Sport and Exercise. (5th ed). USA: Champaign, il: Human Kinetics.

- Kim, Y., Lee, J.-M., Peters, B. P., Gaesser, G. A., & Welk, G. J. (2014). Examination of Different Accelerometer Cut-Points for Assessing Sedentary Behaviors in Children. *PLOS ONE*, 9(4) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090630
- Kocherginsky, M., Huisingh-Scheetz, M., Dale, W., Lauderdale, D. S., & Waite, L. (2017).
 Measuring Physical Activity with Hip Accelerometry among U.S. Older Adults: How
 Many Days Are Enough? *PLOS ONE*, *12*(1), e0170082.
 DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0170082
- Kristman, V., Manno, M & Côté, P.(2004) Loss to follow-up in cohort studies: how much is too much? *European Journal of Epidemiology*. 19(8) 751-60. DOI:10.1023/B: EJEP.0000036568. 02655.f8
- Kwon, S. B., Ahn, J. W., Lee, S. M., Lee, J., Lee, D., Hong, J., Kim, H. C., & Yoon, H.-J.
 (2019). Estimating Maximal Oxygen Uptake from Daily Activity Data Measured by a Watch-Type Fitness Tracker: Cross-Sectional Study. *JMIR MHealth and UHealth*, 7(6), e13327.DOI:10.2196/13327
- Lang, J. J., Wolfe Phillips, E., Orpana, H. M., Tremblay, M. S., Ross, R., Ortega, F. B., Silva, D. A. S., & Tomkinson, G. R. (2018). Field-based measurement of cardiorespiratory fitness to evaluate physical activity interventions. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 96(11), 794–796.DOI:10.2471/BLT.18.213728
- Lee, D., Artero, E. G., Sui, X., & Blair, S. N. (2010). Review: Mortality trends in the general population: the importance of cardiorespiratory fitness. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 24(4_suppl), 27–35. DOI:10.1177/1359786810382057
- Lee, I.-M., Shiroma, E. J., Lobelo, F., Puska, P., Blair, S. N., & Katzmarzyk, P. T. (2012). Impact of Physical Inactivity on the World's Major Non-Communicable Diseases. *Lancet*, 380(9838), 219–229.DOI: /10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9
- Lærum, Leijon, Kallings, Faskunger, Borjesson, Ståhle, (2008). Aktivitetshåndboka. Oslo: Helsedirektoratet.

- Maciejczyk, M., Więcek, M., Szymura, J., Szyguła, Z., Wiecha, S., & Cempla, J. (2014). The Influence of Increased Body Fat or Lean Body Mass on Aerobic Performance. *PLoS ONE*, 9(4). DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0095797
- MacIntosh, E., & Law, B. (2015). Should I stay or should I go? Exploring the decision to join, maintain, or cancel a fitness membership. *Managing Sport and Leisure*, 20(3), 191–210.DOI: 10.1080/23750472.2015.1025093
- Mann, T. N., Lamberts, R. P., & Lambert, M. I. (2014). High responders and low responders: Factors associated with individual variation in response to standardized training. *Sports Medicine* 44(8), 1113–1124. DOI: 10.1007/s40279-014-0197-3
- Mathie, M., Coster, A. C. F., Lovell, N. H., & Celler, B. G. (2004). Accelerometry: Providing an integrated, practical method for long-term, ambulatory monitoring of human movement. *Physiological Measurement*, 25(2). DOI: 10.1088/0967-3334/25/2/R01
- Maranhão Neto, G. de A., & Farinatti, P. de T. V. (2003). Non-exercise models for prediction of aerobic fitness and applicability on epidemiological studies: descriptive review and analysis of the studies. *Revista Brasileira de Medicina Do Esporte*, 9(5), 304–314. DOI: 10.1590/s1517-86922003000500006
- Matthews, C. E., Heil, D. P., Freedson, P. S., & Pastides, H. (1999). Classification of cardiorespiratory fitness without exercise testing. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 31(3), 486–493.
- McCurdy, T. (2015) Physiological parameters and physical activity for evaluating exposure modeling performance: a synthesis (EPA/600/R-15/175). DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.3952.6886
- McGuire, K. A., & Ross, R. (2011). Incidental physical activity is positively associated with cardiorespiratory fitness. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *43*(11), 2189–2194. DOI: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31821e4ff2

- Metzger, J. S., Catellier, D. J., Evenson, K. R., Treuth, M. S., Rosamond, W. D., & Siega-Riz,
 A. M. (2008). Patterns of Objectively Measured Physical Activity in the United States. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 40(4), 630–638. DOI:
 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181620ebc
- Mezzani, A. (2017). Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing: Basics of Methodology and Measurements. Annals of the American Thoracic Society, 14(Supplement_1), S3–S11. DOI: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201612-997FR
- Middelkamp, J & Steenbergen, B. (2015). The transtheoretical model and exercise behavior of members in fitness clubs: Systematic review. *Journal of fitness research*.4(2)DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.2121.3927
- Migueles, J. H., Cadenas-Sanchez, C., Ekelund, U., Delisle Nyström, C., Mora-Gonzalez, J., Löf, M., Labayen, I., Ruiz, J. R., & Ortega, F. B. (2017). Accelerometer Data Collection and Processing Criteria to Assess Physical Activity and Other Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Practical Considerations. *Sports Medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 47(9), 1821–1845.DOI: 10.1007/s40279-017-0716-0
- Montoye, A. H. K., Pivarnik, J. M., Mudd, L. M., Biswas, S., & Pfeiffer, K. A. (2016).
 Validation and Comparison of Accelerometers Worn on the Hip, Thigh, and Wrists for Measuring Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior. 3(2), 298-312. DOI: 10.3934/publichealth.2016.2.298
- Mora, S., Cook, N., Buring, J. E., Ridker, P. M., & Lee, I.-M. (2007). Physical Activity and Reduced Risk of Cardiovascular Events: Potential Mediating Mechanisms. *Circulation*, 116(19), 2110–2118. DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.729939
- Mundwiler, J., Schüpbach, U., Dieterle, T., Leuppi, J. D., Schmidt-Trucksäss, A., Wolfer, D.
 P., Miedinger, D., & Brighenti-Zogg, S. (2017). Association of Occupational and Leisure-Time Physical Activity with Aerobic Capacity in a Working Population. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(1), e0168683.DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168683

- Muscat, K. M., Kotrach, H. G., Wilkinson-Maitland, C. A., Schaeffer, M. R., Mendonca, C. T., & Jensen, D. (2015). Physiological and perceptual responses to incremental exercise testing in healthy men: Effect of exercise test modality. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, Physiologie Appliquee, Nutrition Et Metabolisme, 40*(11), 1199–1209.DOI: 10.1139/apnm-2015-0179
- Nes, B. M., Janszky, I., Vatten, L. J., Nilsen, T. I. L., Aspenes, S. T., & Wisløff, U. (2011).
 Estimating V·O 2peak from a nonexercise prediction model: The HUNT Study,
 Norway. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 43(11), 2024–2030.
 DOI:10.1249/MSS.0b013e31821d3f6f
- Nishijima, H., Satake, K., Igarashi, K., Morita, N., Kanazawa, N., & Okita, K. (2007). Effects of Exercise in Overweight Japanese with Multiple Cardiovascular Risk Factors. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 39(6), 926–933.
 DOI:10.1249/mss.0b013e3180383d84
- Norwegian Institute of Public Health. Public Health Report: Health Status in Norway 2018. Oslo: Norwegian Institute of Public Health, 2018.
- O'Donovan, G., Hillsdon, M., Ukoumunne, O. C., Stamatakis, E., & Hamer, M. (2013).
 Objectively measured physical activity, cardiorespiratory fitness and cardiometabolic risk factors in the Health Survey for England. *Preventive Medicine*, *57*(3), 201–205.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.05.022
- Papathanasiou, G., Georgoudis, G., Georgakopoulos, D., Katsouras, C., Kalfakakou, V., & Evangelou, A. (2010). Criterion-related validity of the short International Physical Activity Questionnaire against exercise capacity in young adults. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation: Official Journal of the European Society of Cardiology, Working Groups on Epidemiology & Prevention and Cardiac Rehabilitation and Exercise Physiology*, *17*(4), 380–386. DOI: 10.1097/HJR.0b013e328333ede6

- Pedišić, Ž., & Bauman, A. (2015). Accelerometer-based measures in physical activity surveillance: Current practices and issues. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 49(4), 219–223.DOI: 10.1136/bjsports-2013-093407
- Piercy, K.L., Troiano, R.P., Ballards, R.M., Carlson S.A., Fulton, J.E., Daluska, D.A., George, S.M., & Olson, R.D. (2018). The Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. 320(19), 2020-2028. DOI: 10.1001/jama.2018.14854
- Pollock, M. L., Bohannon, R. L., Cooper, K. H., Ayres, J. J., Ward, A., White, S. R., & Linnerud, A. C. (1976). A comparative analysis of four protocols for maximal treadmill stress testing. *American Heart Journal*, 92(1), 39–46. DOI: 10.1016/s0002-8703(76)80401-2
- Poole, D. C., Wilkerson, D. P., & Jones, A. M. (2008). Validity of criteria for establishing maximal O2 uptake during ramp exercise tests. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 102(4), 403–410. DOI:10.1007/s00421-007-0596-3
- Prioreschi, A., Brage, S., Westgate, K., Norris, S. A., & Micklesfield, L. K. (2017).
 Cardiorespiratory fitness levels and associations with physical activity and body composition in young South African adults from Soweto. *BMC Public Health*, *17*(1), 301.DOI: 10.1186/s12889-017-4212-0
- Ranković, G., Mutavdžić, V., Toskić, D., Preljević, A., Kocić, M., Nedin-Ranković, G., & Damjanović, N. (2010). Aerobic capacity as an indicator in different kinds of sports. *Bosnian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences*, 10(1), 44–48. DOI: 10.17305/bjbms.2010.2734
- Riseth, L., Nøst, T. H., Nilsen, T. I. L., & Steinsbekk, A. (2019). Long-term members' use of fitness centers: A qualitative study. *BMC Sports Science, Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 11(1). DOI: 10.1186/s13102-019-0114-z
- Ross, R., Blair, S. N., Arena, R., Church, T. S., Després, J.-P., Franklin, B. A., Haskell, W. L.,
 Kaminsky, L. A., Levine, B. D., Lavie, C. J., Myers, J., Niebauer, J., Sallis, R.,
 Sawada, S. S., Sui, X., & Wisløff, U. (2016). Importance of Assessing
 Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Clinical Practice: A Case for Fitness as a Clinical Vital

Sign: A Scientific Statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *134*(24), DOI: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000461

- Ross, R., Lannoy, L. de, & Stotz, P. J. (2015) Separate Effects of Intensity and Amount of Exercise on Interindividual Cardiorespiratory Fitness Response. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 90(11), 1506-1514. DOI: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2015.07.024
- Saleh, A & Bista, K. (2017) Examining factors impacting online survey reponse rates in educational research: perceptions of graduate students. *Journal of multidisciplinary Evaluation*. 13(29), 63-74.
- Sasaki, J. E., John, D., & Freedson, P. S. (2011). Validation and comparison of ActiGraph activity monitors. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 14(5), 411–416. DOI: 10.1016/j.jsams.2011.04.003
- SATS. (2020) "Sett sammen ditt medlemskap". Retrieved from: https://www.sats.no/bli-medlem/oslo/
- Schembre, S. M., & Riebe, D. A. (2011). Non-Exercise Estimation of VO2max Using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire. *Measurement in Physical Education* and Exercise Science, 15(3), 168–181. DOI:10.1080/1091367X.2011.568369
- Schoffelen, P. F. M., Hoed, M. den, Breda, E. van, & Plasqui, G. (2019). Test-retest variability of VO2max using total-capture indirect calorimetry reveals linear relationship of VO2 and Power. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 29(2), 213–222. DOI:10.1111/sms.13324
- Schroeder, E. C., Welk, G. J., Franke, W. D., & Lee, D. (2017). Associations of Health Club Membership with Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Health. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(1).
 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170471
- Shiroma Eric J., & Lee I-Min. (2010). Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Health. *Circulation*, 122(7), 743–752. DOI:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.914721

- Siconolfi, S. F., Lasater, T. M., Snow, R. C. K., & Carleton, R. A. (1985). Self-reported physical activity compared with maximal oxygen uptake. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 122(1), 101–105. DOI:10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a114068
- Silfee, V. J., Haughton, C. F., Jake-Schoffman, D. E., Lopez-Cepero, A., May, C. N., Sreedhara, M., Rosal, M. C., & Lemon, S. C. (2018). Objective measurement of physical activity outcomes in lifestyle interventions among adults: A systematic review. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 11, 74–80. DOI:10.1016/j.pmedr.2018.05.003
- Skinner, J. S., Jaskólski, A., Jaskólska, A., Krasnoff, J., Gagnon, J., Leon, A. S., Rao, D. C.,
 Wilmore, J. H., Bouchard, C., & HERITAGE Family Study. (2001). Age, sex, race,
 initial fitness, and response to training: The HERITAGE Family Study. *Journal of Applied Physiology (Bethesda, Md.: 1985)*, 90(5), 1770–1776.
 DOI:10.1152/jappl.2001.90.5.1770
- Song, J. W., & Chung, K. C. (2010). Observational Studies: Cohort and Case-Control Studies. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 126(6), 2234–2242. DOI: 10.1097/PRS.0b013e3181f44abc
- Steene-Johannessen, J., Anderssen, S. A., van der Ploeg, H. P., Hendriksen, I. J. M., Donnelly, A. E., Brage, S., & Ekelund, U. (2016). Are Self-report Measures Able to Define Individuals as Physically Active or Inactive? *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 48(2), 235–244. DOI: 10.1249/MSS.000000000000760
- Stofan, J. R., DiPietro, L., Davis, D., Kohl, H. W., & Blair, S. N. (1998). Physical activity patterns associated with cardiorespiratory fitness and reduced mortality: The Aerobics Center Longitudinal Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 88(12), 1807–1813.
- Strath Scott J., Kaminsky Leonard A., Ainsworth Barbara E., Ekelund Ulf, Freedson Patty S.,
 Gary Rebecca A., Richardson Caroline R., Smith Derek T., & Swartz Ann M. (2013).
 Guide to the Assessment of Physical Activity: Clinical and Research Applications. *Circulation*, 128(20), 2259–2279. DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.000043570867487.da

Swain, D. P. (2005). Moderate or Vigorous Intensity Exercise: Which Is Better for Improving

Aerobic Fitness? *Preventive Cardiology*, 8(1), 55–58. DOI: 10.1111/j.1520-037X.2005. 02791.x

- Swain.P., & Franklin, B.A. (2002). VO(2) Reserve and the minimal intensity for improving Cardiorespiratory fitness. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 34(1) 152-157 DOI: 10.1097/00005768-200201000-00023.
- Swain, D. P., & Franklin, B. A. (2006). Comparison of Cardioprotective Benefits of Vigorous Versus Moderate Intensity Aerobic Exercise. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, 97(1), 141–147. DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2005.07.130
- Sylvia, L. G., Bernstein, E. E., Hubbard, J. L., Keating, L., & Anderson, E. J. (2014). A Practical Guide to Measuring Physical Activity. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition* and Dietetics, 114(2), 199–208.DOI: 10.1016/j.jand.2013.09.018
- Thidemann, A., & Rekdal, K. E. (2017). Report of the Fitness Center Industry. Virke Trening Retrieved from https://www.virke.no/globalassets/bransje/bransjedokumenter/ treningssenterbran sjen2017.pdf
- Trost, S. G., McIver, K. L., & Pate, R. R. (2005). Conducting accelerometer-based activity assessments in field-based research. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 37(11 Suppl), S531-543.DOI: 10.1249/01.mss.0000185657.86065.98
- Vanhees, L., Lefevre, J., Philippaerts, R., Martens, M., Huygens, W., Troosters, T., & Beunen, G. (2005). How to assess physical activity? How to assess physical fitness? *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation*, 12(2), 102–114. DOI: 10.1097/01.hjr.0000161551.73095.9c
- Vanhelst, J., Mikulovic, J., Bui-Xuan, G., Dieu, O., Blondeau, T., & Fardy, P. (2012)
 Comparison of two ActiGraph accelerometer generations in the assessment of physical activity in free living conditions. *British Medical Journal Open.* 5 (185). DOI: 10.1186/1756-0500-5-187.

- Virke. (2018). Treningssenterbransjen 2018. Retrived from: https://www.virke.no/bransjer/trening/
- Wang, C.-Y., Haskell, W. L., Farrell, S. W., LaMonte, M. J., Blair, S. N., Curtin, L. R.,
 Hughes, J. P., & Burt, V. L. (2010). Cardiorespiratory Fitness Levels Among US
 Adults 20–49 Years of Age: Findings From the 1999–2004 National Health and
 Nutrition Examination Survey. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *171*(4), 426–435.
 DOI: 10.1093/aje/kwp412
- Warren, J. M., Ekelund, U., Besson, H., Mezzani, A., Geladas, N., & Vanhees, L. (2010).
 Assessment of physical activity a review of methodologies with reference to epidemiological research: A report of the exercise physiology section of the European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation*, *17*(2), 127–139. DOI: 10.1097/HJR.0b013e32832ed875
- Whaley, M., Kaminsky, L., Dwyer, G., & Getchell, L. (1995). Failure of predicted VO_{2peak} to discriminate physical fitness in epidemiological studies. *Medicine & Science in Sports* & Exercise, 27(1), 85–91.
- Worlds Health Organization (2010) Global recommendations on Physical Activity (ISBN 978 92 4 159 997 9)
- Worlds Health Organization (2018 February) Physical activity. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/pa/en/</u>
- Worlds Health Organization (2018 June 1) Noncommunicable diseases. Retrieved from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/noncommunicable-diseases
- Worlds Health Organization (2020 April 1) Obesity and overweight. Retrieved from: https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight
- Williams, C. J., Williams, M. G., Eynon, N., Ashton, K. J., Little, J. P., Wisloff, U., & Coombes, J. S. (2017). Genes to predict VO_{2max} trainability: A systematic review. *BMC Genomics*, *18*(8), 831.DOI: 10.1186/s12864-017-4192-6
- Williams, P. (2001). Physical fitness and activity as separate heart disease risk factors: A meta-analysis. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *33*(5), 754–761.
- Zeng, Q., Dong, S.-Y., Sun, X.-N., Xie, J., & Cui, Y. (2012). Percent body fat is a better predictor of cardiovascular risk factors than body mass index. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 45(7), 591–600. DOI: 10.1590/S0100-879X2012007500059

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Results are presented as mean (and standard deviation, SD) Reference values for VO_{2max} andcorresponding maximal heart rate, borg scale and RER for men within the age groups: 20-29, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59, 60-69 and 70-85 (Edvardsen et al., 2013).
Table 2 : Results are presented as mean (and standard deviation, SD) Reference values for VO_{2max} andcorresponding maximal heart rate, Borg-scale and RER-score for women within the age groups: 20-29,30-39,40-49,50-59,60-60 and 70-85 (Edvardsen et al., 2013).
<i>Table 3:</i> Data are given for all participants and divided into women and men at membership start-up. Results are presented as mean (and standard deviation, SD) or number (and percentage), and p-value 34
Table 4: The participants physical fitness, total activity level and body composition at membership start-up $(n=125)$ and at 1-year follow-up $(n=61)$. Results are presented as mean (and standard deviation, SD), and p -value.35
Table 5: Correlation matrix of VO_{2max} and independent factors at membership start-up (n=125) and after1-year follow-up (n=61).37
Table 6: Multiple linear regression for estimating VO_{2max} at membership start-up (n=125) and at 1-yearfollow-up (n=61)

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Flowchart diagram of total participants who contacted the research group, and total participants measured at membership start-up and at 1-year follow-up.	30
Figure 2: Bland Altman plot illustrating the difference between predicted and measured VO_{2max} at membership start-up (n=125).Mean difference and 95% limits of agreement (1.96 SD) are illustrated with straight and dotted lines, respectively. Black and white dots represent participants above and below reference values for VO_{2max} , respectively (Edvardsen et al., 2013)	39
Figure 3: Bland Altman plot illustrating the difference between predicted and measured VQ_{int} at follow we ($n = 61$). More differences and 0.5% limits of account (1.06 SD) are	

APPENDIX 1: REVIEW BY REK

Emne: Svar på framleggingsvurdering Fra: post@helseforskning.etikkom.no Dato: 13.08.2015 14:12Til: christina.gjestvang@nih.no

Kopi:Vår ref.nr.: 2015/1443 A

Det vises til forespørsel om framleggingsplikt for prosjektet "Fitnessbransjen - En arena for folkehelse. Hvem, hva og hvorfor?" mottatt den 04.08.2015 (vår ref. 2015/1443).

Henvendelsen er vurdert av leder i REK sør-øst A.

Prosjektbeskrivelse

Til tross for at fitnessbransjen har utviklet seg til å bli en viktig arena for fysisk aktivitet eksisterer det svært lite forskningsbasert kunnskap om de som velger å være fysisk aktive på et treningssenter, produktene som tilbys, både innenfor gruppetrening og individuell veiledning, samt kompetansen til de som jobber der. Videre viser studier at rundt 50 % av de som starter å trene regelmessig faller fra sitt treningsprogram innen 6-12 måneder etter oppstart. Grunner til hvorfor det er stort frafall i begynnelsen av trening er lite beskrevet i litteraturen, og dette forskningsprosjektet vil belyse medvirkende årsaker til hvem som klarer, og ikke klarer, å opprettholde trening over tid, slik at man kan bli i bedre stand til å utvikle tiltak som får flere til å opprettholde et aktivt liv. Denne studien vil også gi kunnskap som kan bidra til å forklare fysisk aktivitets betydning for livskvalitet, inkludert følelse av velvære og helseplager hos de som går fra å være inaktive til å bli regelmessig aktive, noe som er litebeskrevet i litteraturen

Nye medlemmer på SATS ELIXIA-sentre i Oslo vil rekrutteres til en prospektiv, observasjonell kohortstudie over 12 måneder med oppfølging 5 år etter studiestart. Data vil innsamles ved hjelp av spørreskjema og fysiologiske målinger (måling av kroppsanalyse, maksimalt oksygenopptak, maksimal styrke og muskulær utholdenhet) kartlagt ved baseline og etter 3, 6 og 12 mnd.

Vurdering

Etter REKs vurdering faller prosjektet slik det er beskrevet utenfor virkeområdet til helseforskningsloven. Helseforskningsloven gjelder for *medisinsk og helsefaglig forskning* på norsk territorium eller når forskningen skjer i regi av en forskningsansvarlig som er etablert i Norge.

Medisinsk og helsefaglig forskning er forskning på mennesker, humant biologisk materiale og helseopplysninger, som har som formål *å frambringe ny kunnskap om helse og sykdom*, jf. helseforskningsloven §§ 2 og 4a. Formålet er avgjørende, ikke om forskningen utføres av helsepersonell eller på pasienter eller benytter helseopplysninger.

Prosjektet er etter REKs vurdering et prosjekt som ikke har som formål å skaffe til veie ny kunnskap om helse og sykdom.

Prosjekter som faller utenfor helseforskningslovens virkeområde kan gjennomføres uten godkjenning av REK. Det er institusjonens ansvar på å sørge for at prosjektet gjennomføres på en forsvarlig måte med hensyn til for eksempel regler for taushetsplikt og personvern.

Vi gjør oppmerksom på at vurderingen og konklusjonen er å anse som veiledende jf. forvaltningsloven § 11.

Dersom dere likevel ønsker å søke REK vil søknaden bli behandlet i komitémøte, og det vil bli fattet et enkeltvedtak etter forvaltningsloven.

Med vennlig hilsenVivi Opdalseniorrådgiver post@helseforskning.etikkom.no T: 22845526

Regional komité for medisinsk og helsefaglig forskningsetikk REK sør-øst-Norge (REK sør-øst) http://helseforskning.etikkom.no

APPENDIX 2: APPLICATION FOR NSD

Norsk samfunnsvitenskapelig datatjeneste AS NORWEGIAN SOCIAL SCIENCE DATA SERVICES

NSD

MELDESKJEMA

Meldeskjema (versjon 1.4) for forsknings- og studentprosjekt som m (f. personopplysningsloven og helsengisterfoven med forskrifter). er meldeplikt eller konsesjonspilikt

1. Intro			
Samles det inn direkte personidentfisserende opplyaninger?	Ja o Nel +	En person vil være direkte identifiserbar via navn, personnummer, eller andre personentydige kjennetegn. Las mer om hva personopplysninger. NBI Selv om opplysningene skal anonymiseres i oppgaverbapport, må det krysses av dersom det skal innhentsalvegisteres personidentifiserende opplysninger i forbindelse med prosjektet.	
Hvisja, hvilks?	Navn 11-siftet fødseisnummer Adresse E-post Telefonnummer Annet		
Annet, speaffaer hvilke			
Samias det inn bakgrunnsopplysninger kom kan identifisere enkeltpersoner (Indinkte personidentifiserende opplysninger)?	Ja o Nel •	En person vil være indirekte identifisærbar dersom det ar mulig å identifisære vedkommende gjennom bekgrunnsopplysninger som för eksempel bostedskommune eller arbeidspissalkösle kombinert med opplysninger som alder, kjenn, yrke, diagnose, etc.	
Hvis js, hvilke		NBI For at teamme skal regnes som personidentifiserende, må denne bli registrert i kombinasjon med andre opplysninger, slik at personer kan gjenkjennes.	
Skal det registreres personoppiyæringer (direkte/indirekte/indirekte/indirekte/indirekte/indirekte/ adresse, etc) ved hjølp av nettbaserte spørteskjørna?	Ja • Nel o	Les mer om rettbaserte sportrekjerne.	
Diir det registrert personopplysninger på digitale bilde- eller videoopptak?	Ja ∘ Nel ●	Bide/videoopptak av anakter vil regnes som personidentifiærende.	
Seikes det vurdering fra REK om hvorvidt prosjektet er omfattet av heiseforskningsloven?	Ja • Nel o	NBI Densom REK (Regional Komité for mediainak og heisefaglig forskningsetikk) har vurdert prosjektet som heiseforskning, er det like nadvendig å sende inn meldeskjærna til personværrombudet (NBI Gjelder likke prosjekter som skal benytte data fra peeudonyme heiseregistre).	
		Densom tilbakarneiding fra REK ikka foreligger, anbefaler vi at du avventer videre uttylling til avar fra REK foreligger.	
2. Prosjekttittel			
Prosjektitel	Fitnessbransjen -En arena for folkehelse. Hvem. hva og hvorfor?	Oppgi prosjekteta tittal. NBI Dette kan ikke være «Mastemppgave» eller likvende, navnet må beskrive prosjekteta innhold.	
3. Behandlingsansvarl	ig institusjon		
Institucion	Norges idrettshøgskole	Veig den institusjonen du er tiknyttet. Alle nivå må	
Avdeling/Fakultet	Seksjon for idrettsmedisinske fag	oppis. Ved studentprosjekt er det studentens tilknytning som er svigtende. Dersom institusjonen likke finnes på listen, har den ikke avtale med NSD som	
Institutt		institusjonen.	
4. Daglig ansvarlig (forsker, velieder, stipendiat)			
Fomavn	Lene Anette	Far opp navnet på den som har det deglige anavaret for	
Ettemavo	Hagen Haakstad	ved studentprojekt	
Stilling	Førsteamanuensis	Velleder og student må være tiknyttet samme Institusjon. Dersom studenten har ekstern velleder,	
Telefon	23262390	kanoveleder eller faganavarlig ved studiestedet stå som daglig anavarlig.	
Mobil	45489902	Arbeidasted må være tilknyttet behandlingsansvarlig Institusjon, f.eks. undersvdeling, institutt etc.	
E-post	I.a.h.haakstad@nih.no	NBI Det er viktig at du oppgir en e-postadrease som brukes sktivt. Vennigst gi oss beskjed dersom den endres.	
Alternativ e-post	christina.gjestvang@nih.no		
Arbeidested	Norges idrettshøgskole	164	

I		
Advesse (arb.)	Sognsvelen 220	
Poetroned (anotated)	Oclo	
(betwork) bend		
5. Student (master, ba	chelor)	
Studentprosjekt	Ja o Nel ●	Densom det er flere studenter som samarbeider om et prosjekt, skal det velges en kontaktperson som føres opp her. Øvrige studenter kan føres opp under pitt 10.
6 Formaliat mod prosi	aktat	
o. Poimaiet med prosj		
Formál	Bakorum for studien: Til tross for at fitnessbransjen har utviklet seg til å bil en viktig arena for fysisk aktivitet eksisterer det svært lite forskningsbasert kunnskap om de som veiger å være fysisk aktive på et treningssenter, produktene som tilbys, både innenfor gruppetrening og individuell velledning, samt kompetansen til de som jobber der. Videre viser studier at rundt 50 % av de som starter å trene regelmessig faller fra sitt treningsprogram innen 6-12 måneder etter oppstart. Grunner til hvorfor det er stort fratal i begynnelsen av trening er lite beskrevet i litteraturef og dette forskningsprogiektet vil belyse medvirkende arsaker til hvem som klarer, og ikke klafer å opprettpolde trening over tid, silk at vi kan bil i bedre stand til å utv	Redegier kort for prosjeldets formål, problemetiling, forskningesperemäl e.).
7. Hvlike personer ska	det innhentes personopplysninger om (utvalg)?	
Kryne av for utvelg	Barnehagebam Skoleelever Paslenter Brukere/kilenter/kunder Ansatte Barnevernsbam Lørere Helsepersonell Asylsøkere Andre	
Beskriv utvalg/deltakere	Nye inaktive medlemmer fra SATS ELIXIA-sentre I Osio.	Med utvalg menes dem som deltar i underspiselsen eller dem det innhentes opplysninger om.
Rekuttering/trekking	Interesserte deltakere skal kontakte prosjektgruppen for Inklusjon i prosjektet.	Beskriv hvordan ubsiget trekkes eller rekrutteres og oppgi hvem som foretar den. Et ubsig kan trekkes fra registre som f.eks. Folkeregisteret, 555-registre, pasiertregistre, eller det kan rekrutteres gjernom f.eks. en bedrift, skole, idrettamilje eller eget netwerk.
Fentlegangskontskt	Nye mediemmer I SATS ELIXIA får mail fra SATS ELIXIA-kundeservice med informasjon om prosjektet. Deretter kan de melde interesse og rekrutteres som deltaker.	Beskriv hvordan kontakt med utvalget blir opprettet og av hvem. Les mer om dette på temasidene.
Alder på utvalget	□ Barn (0-15 år) □ Ungdom (16-17 år) ■ Voksne (over 18 år)	Les om forskning som involverer barn på väre nettalder.
Ombentlig antall personer som inngår i utvaliget	280	
Samles det im sensitive personopplysninger?	Ja • Nel ○	Les merom sensitive opplysninger.
Hvisja, hvika?	 Rasemessig eller etnisk bakgrunn, eller politisk, filosofisk eller religiøs oppfatning At en person här vært mistenikt, siktet, tiltait eller dømt for en straffbar handling Helseforhold Seksuelle forhold Medlemskap i fagforeninger 	
inkluderes det myndige personer med redusert eller manglende samtykkekompetanae?	Ja o Nel •	Les mer om pasienter, brukere og personer med redusert eller manglende samtylkoskompetanse.
Samles det inn personopplysninger om personer som selv ikke detter (tredjepersoner)?	Ja o Nel o	Med opplysninger om tredjeperson menes opplysninger som kan spores tilbeke til personer som ikke inngår i utvalget. Eksempler på tredjeperson er kollege, elev, klient, familiernediem.
8. Metode for innsamling av personopplysninger		
	Side 3	165

Kryss av for hvilke datainnaamingametoder og datakilder som vil benyttes	Papirbasert spørreskjema Elektronisk spørreskjema Personlig Intervju Gruppeiflervju Observasjon Deltakende observasjon Biogg/soslale medien/internett Psykblogiske/pedagogiske tester Medisinske undersøkelser/tester Journaldata	Personoppiysninger kan innhentes direkte fa den registerde f.eisa. gjennom sparreskjerna, intervju, beater, ogfeller ulike journaler (f.eisa. Statistisk sentralbyrk, sykshus) ogfeller registre (f.eisa. Statistisk sentralbyrk, sentrale helsenegistre). NBI Densom personoppiysninger innhentes fra forskjellige metoder, må detta spesifiseres i kommentar-bolasen. Husk også å legge ved relevante vedlegg til alle utvälge-gruppere og metodens som skal benyttes. Les mer om registenstudier her. Densom du skal anvende registendata, må variabelliste lastes opp under påt. 15
	Registerdata	
	Annen innsamlingsmetode	
Tilleggeopplysninger		
9. Informasjon og sam	tykke	
Oppgi hvordan uhsigetideltakarne informeres	 Skriftig Muntlig Informeres likke 	Denom utvalget ikke skal informeres om behandlingen av personopplysninger må det begrunnes.
		Vennigst send inn mai for skriftig eller muntig Informasjon til deltakerne sammen med meldesigema.
		Last ned en velledende mai her.
		NBI Vedlegg lastes opp til sist i meldeskjernaet, se punkt 15 Vedlegg.
Samtykker utvalget til deftakelse?	●Ja ○Nel	For at et samtykke til deltakalse i forskning skal være gyldig, må det være frivilig, uttrykkelig og informert.
	 Fiere utvaig, ikke samtykke πa alle 	Samtykke kan gis skriftig, muntig eller gjennom en aktiv handling. For eksempel vil et besvart spørreskjems være å regne som et aktivt samtykke.
		Densom det likke skal innhentes samtykke, må det begrunnes.
10. Informasjonssikker	rhet	-
Hvorden registreres og oppbevares personopplysningene?	 På server i virksomhetens nettverk Pysisk isolert PC tilhørende virksomheten (dvs. ingen tilknytning til andre datamaskiner eller nettverk, interne eller eksterne) Datamaskin i nettverkssystem tilknyttet internett tilhørende virksomheten 	Merk av for hvilke hjelpemidler som benyttes for registrefing og analyse av opplysninger. Sett fiere kryss denom opplysningene registreres på fiere måter.
	Privat datamaskin Videoopptak/fotografi Lydopptak	Med evinksomhets menes her behandlingsansvarlig institusjon.
	 Notater/papir Nobile lagitngsenheter (boorbar datamaskin, minnepenn, minnekort, cd, ekstern harddisk, mobiltelefon) 	NSI Som hovedregel bør døbs som inneholder personopplysninger lagres på behandlingsansvarlig sin fonkningsserver.
Annen registreringsmetode beskriv	Annen registreringsmetode	Lagring på andre medier - som privat pc, mobiltelefon, minneptine, verver på annet atbeldastad - er mindre sikkert, og må derfor begrunnes. Silk lagring må sviktares med behandlingsensvarlig institusjon, og personopplysningene bør krypteres.
Hvordan er datamaterialet beskyttet mot at uvedkommende fär innsyn?	Datamaskintligang er beskyttet med brukernavn og passord, samt er all data registrert med kun deltakernummer.	Er f.eks. detemaskintigangen beskyttet med brukernevn og passord, står detemaskinen i et läsbart rom, og hvorden silves berbare enheter, utskrifter og opplak?
Samles opplysningene innbehandles av en databehandler?	Ja ∘ Nel ●	Denom det benyttes eksterne til helt eller delvis å behandle personoppiysninger, f.eks. Questback, transkritteringsassistent eller tolk, er dette å betrakte som en detabehander. Silke oppdrag må kontraktereguleres.
Overfame personopolyaninger	la • Nel o	Fields, ved overfaring av data til samarbeidspartner.
ved hjelp av e-postiintemett?		databehandler mm. Densom personoppivaninger skal sendes vis internet
Hvis js, beskriv?	spørreskjema tylies ut via internett.	ber de krypteres tistrekkelig. Vi anbetaler for ikke lagring av personopolveninger på
1		and the second se
		nettakytjenester. Denom natiskutianaste bezutine skul dat innatis

1//

Sial andre personer ern daglig ansvarlightudert ha tigang ti datamatarialet med personopplysninger?	Ja ∘ Nel ●	
Hvis ja, hvem (oppgi navn og arbeideded)7		
Uteveresideles personoppiyaringer med andre institusjoner eller land?	Nel Andre institusjoner Institusjoner I andre land	F.eks. ved nasjonale samarbeidsprosjekter der personopplysninger utwissies eller ved internasjonale samarbeidsprosjekter der personopplysninger utwissies.
11. Vurdering/godkjen	ning fra andre instanser	
Sokes det om dispensasjon fra bushetspikten for å få tilgang til data?	Ja • Nel o	For & % tigang til bushetabelagte opplysninger fa f.eks. NAV, PPT, sykehus, må det sekse om dispensasjon fa bushetapilitien. Dispensasjon sekse vanilovis fra situ sit densementer
Hvis ja, hvilka		
Søkes det godkjenning fra andre instanser?	Ja ∘ Nel •	Fields, solve registereler om tigang til dats, en ledelse om tigang til forskning i virksomhet, skole.
Hvisjs, hvilken		
12. Periode for behand	lling av personopplysninger	
Prosjektetart	20.09.2015	Prosjektstart Vennigst oppgi tidepunktet for når kontakt med utvalget skal gjørvaktatalmisamlingen starter.
Planiagt dato for prosjektalutt	28.02.2023	Prosjekblutt: Vennigst oppgi tidspunktet for når døtamsterfalet enten skalanonymiserestslettes, eller arkiveres i pävente av oppfølgingsstudler eller annet.
Siai penonoppiyaninger publiseres (direkte eller indirekte)?	 Ja, direkte (navn e.l.) Ja, Indirekte (bakgrunnsopplysninger) Nel, publiseres anonymt 	NBI Denom personopplysninger skal publiseres, må det vanligvis innhentes ekspilsit samtykke til dette fra den enkelte, og deltakere bør gis anledning til å less gjennom og godkjenne sitater.
Hva skal skje med datamaterialet ved prosjektslutt?	 Datamaterialet anonymiseres Datamaterialet oppbevares med personidentifikasjon 	NBI Her menes datamaterialet, ikke publikasjon. Selv om data publikasjon skal som regel avrig data snorymiseres.Med snorymisering menes at datamaterialet bescheides sitk at det ikke lenger er mulig å fare opplysningene tilbale til entertjørsoner.
42 Electrological		
13. Finanslering		
Hvorden finansieres prosjekte??	NIH finansierer prosjektet I sin helhet (testutgifter, testpersoneil, forskringsmedarbeidere etc.). Det vil I tillegg søkes om eksterne prosjektmider (Sanitetsforeningen, Forskningsrådet og Nasjonalforeningen for folkehelsen) for a finansiere en PhD-stilling.	
14. Tilleggsopplysninger		
Tilleggeopplysninger		

APPENDIX 3: APPROVAL FROM NSD

Norsk samfunnsvitenskapelig datatjeneste AS Norwegian social science data services

Lene A.H. Haakstad Seksjon for idrettsmedisinske fag Norges idrettshøgskole Postboks 4014 Ullevål Stadion 0806 OSLO

V&r ref: 44135 / 3 / LT



Org.rs. 985 321 884

Vär dato: 02.09.2015

Dense dato: Dense ref:

TILBAKEMELDING PÅ MELDING OM BEHANDLING AV PERSONOPPLYSNINGER

Vi viser til melding om behandling av personopplysninger, mottatt 04.08.2015. Meldingen gjelder prosjektet:

44135 Fitnessbransjen -En arena for folkehelse. Hvem, hva og hvorfor? Behandlingsansvarlig Norges idrettshøgskole, ved institusjonens øverste leder Daglig ansvarlig Lene A.H. Haakstad

Personvernombudet har vurdert prosjektet, og finner at behandlingen av personopplysninger vil være regulert av § 7-27 i personopplysningsforskriften. Personvernombudet tilrår at prosjektet gjennomføres.

Personvernombudets tilråding forutsetter at prosjektet gjennomføres i tråd med opplysningene gitt i meldeskjemaet, korrespondanse med ombudet, ombudets kommentarer samt personopplysningsloven og helseregisterloven med forskrifter. Behandlingen av personopplysninger kan settes i gang.

Det gjøres oppmerksom på at det skal gis ny melding dersom behandlingen endres i forhold til de opplysninger som ligger til grunn for personvernombudets vurdering. Endringsmeldinger gis via et eget skjema, http://www.nsd.uib.no/personvern/meldeplikt/skjema.html. Det skal også gis melding etter tre år dersom prosjektet fortsatt pågår. Meldinger skal skje skriftlig til ombudet.

Personvernombudet har lagt ut opplysninger om prosjektet i en offentlig database, http://pvo.nsd.no/prosjekt.

Personvernombudet vil ved prosjektets avslutning, 28.02.2023, rette en henvendelse angående status for behandlingen av personopplysninger.

Vennlig hilsen

Katrine Utaaker Segadal

Lis Tenold

Kontaktperson: Lis Tenold tif: 55 58 33 77 Vedlegg: Prosjektvurdering

Dokumentet er elektronisk produsert og godkjent ved NSDs rutiner for elektronisk godkjenning.

Avdelingskontorer / District Officer GSLD: NSD: Unaerwidetet i Orio, Postbola: 1055; Bindens, 0316 Dalo: Tel. +47-72 85 52 11. met@uio.no TROMONTUL NSD: Nonges televisie natureterelagelege universitet, 2491 Toondoom. Tel. +47-73 59 19 07. kpm: evansalitert intruuro TROMONTUL NSD: NSD: 505; Universitetet i Termar, 9007 Termar. Tel. +47-73 64 41 36. metmanitiw.ut.no

APPENDIX 4: EMAIL INVITATION FOR NEWLY REGISTERED FITNESS CLUB MEMBERS

Har du problemer med å lese nyhetsbrevet, klikk her.

SATS ELIXIA

Hei

Som nytt medlem i SATS ELIXIA har du muligheten til å delta i et forskningsprosjekt regissert og gjennomført av Norges idrettshøgskole. Les betingelsene og meld din interesse direkte til NIH dersom du mener du passer til å være med på dette spennende prosjektet.

Med hilsen SATS ELIXIA

Fitnessbransjen – En arena for folkehelse

Til tross for at fitnessbransjon har utviklet sog til å bli en viktig arena for fysisk aktivitet, eksisterer det i dag svært lite forskningsbasert kunnskap om de som velger å være fysisk aktive på treningssentre, produktene som tilbys, både innenfor gruppetrening og individuel veiledning, samt kompetansen til de som jobber der.

I prosjektet «Fitnessbransjen – en arena for folkehelse» fokuseres det på grunnleggende aspekter ved trening og fysisk aktivitet, inkludert treningsvaner, motiver og barrierer for trening.

Målet med studien er å generere ny kunnskap om medvirkende faktorer assosiert med oppslutning til og frafall fra trening, sik at vilkan bli i bedre stand til å sette i gang tiltak som får flere til å opprettholde et aktivt liv.

Hva vil det innebære å delta i prosjekter? Totalt ønsker vi å rekruttere ca. 280 nyinnmeldte medlemmer på SATS ELIXIA-sentre i Oslo til denne studien som vil gå over 12 måneder, inkludert opplølging 5 år etter studiestart. Data vil innsamles ved hjelp av spørreskjema og fysiologiske målinger kartlagt ved tre til fire tidspunkt.

Inklusjonskriterier:

Over 18 år

- Snakker, leser og forstår norsk
- . Er motivert for å fullføre alle tester (tre besøk) ved Norges idrettshøgskole over en periode på 12 måneder
- Har vært fysisk inaktiv de siste 6 måneder (defineres som at du ikke har trent mer enn 50 minutt 1 dag/uke, eller 150 min med gåturer i uken).

Gratis test av fysisk form!

Testingen vil foregå på Norges idrettshøgskole (NIH), og vil ta ca. 1 time og 30 minutter hver gang og inkluderer følgende prosedyre:

Baseline, 3 or 12 måneder

 Spørreskjema om fysisk aktivitet/trening, kosthold, helse, livskvalitet og sosial støtte (tar ca. 20 minutter å fyle ut)

- Måling av kroppssammensetning (fettmasse og muskelmasse) med Inbody
- Måling av maksimalt oksygenopptak med indirekte kalorimetri («Breath by breath»)

 Måling av styrke og muskulær utholdenhet inkludert 1RM test (Repetisjon Maksimum) i benpress (underkropp) og benkpress (underkropp). Det vil også gjennomføres styrketester med 70 % belastning av 1 RM i de samme øvelsene.

Baseline og 12 måneder

Objektiv kartlegging av totalt fysisk aktivitetsnivå med ActiGraph GT1M. Du vil bære akselerometeret i en uke (7 dager) ved hver måleperiode.

Seks måneder

Spørreskjema om fysisk aktivitet/trening, kosthold, helse, livskvalitet og sosial støtte vil sendes elektronisk til alle deltagere.

Alle testene benyttes hyppig innen forskning og idrettsmedisin, og innebærer liten risiko for skader og negativ påvirkning for deg. Kroppssammensetning måles med inbody som gir en beskjeden stråledose. Testing av maksimal styrke, muskulær utholdenhet og oksygenopptak (VO2max) følger standard prosedyrer ved NIH, og vil gjennomføres av erfarne testledere.

Gjennomføring av tester og deltakelse i prosjektet er selvsagt uten kostnader for deg. Kostnader i forbindelse med transport til og fra testing dekkes ikke.

Deltagelse er helt frivillig, og du har anledning til å trekke deg fra prosjektet når du måtie ønske det, uten å måtte oppgi grunn. Alle resultater vil bli behandlet konfidensielt, og kun kodenummer, ikke navn, vil bli lagt inn på datamaskin for videre analyser. Prosjektet er vurdert av Personvernombudet for forskning, Norsk samfunnsvitenskapelige datatjeneste. Innsamlede opplysninger vil bli anonymisert ved prosjektslutt 28.02.2023.

Meld din interesse i dag!

Kontaktperson:

Christina Gjestvang Forskningsmedarbeider Seksjon for idrettsmedisinske fag

E-post: christina.gjestvang@nih.no T/f: 90 02 03 91

SATS ELIXIA Norge AS, Nydalen Allé 37 A, 0484 Oslo

Brevet ble sendt til @@email Ørsker du å melde deg av fremtidige utsendelser, klikk her.